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These financial statements reflect the performance of the 
Europe Energy Holding Group at the end of its tenth year 
of existence.
As we have already mentioned in our half-yearly report, 
where 2017 was the year of the definitive closure of the Ga-
scom case with the definitive purchase of the related busi-
ness unit and the subsequent merger of Europe Energy Gas 
& Power into Europe Energy S.p.A., 2018 was the year that 
saw the return to growth in the market of end customers.
Supply points in Italy rose from 25,101 on 30 September 
2017 to 33,786 on 30 September 2018 (+34.60%). In 
particular, of these 33,786 points, 22,925 are electricity 
supply points and 10,861 are natural gas supply points.
But 2018 did not stop there for us. In fact, it was also the 
year we began supply to end customers in Romania, Slove-
nia and Croatia. I remind you that Romania is presided over 
through the company Energia Gas & Power Romania, which 
is 63% owned (a percentage which increased to 73% at the 
beginning of December 2018) and as at the closing date 
of these financial statements had 3,658 gas customers 
and 3,031 electric customers for a total of 6,689 points 
of supply. In Slovenia, the company works through Ener-
gia Gas & Power Slovenia, 70% owned, with 741 electrical 
customers. In Croatia, on the other hand, the operator is 
Energia Gas & Power Croatia, 50% owned and which as at 
30 September had 248 electricity customers. As at 28 Sep-
tember 2018, the company acquired 35% of Energia Gas & 
Power Serbia, a company with 1,430 customers correspon-
ding in terms of volumes to 3.5% of the Serbian market 
(second-largest operator after the state company). Activities 
in Romania and Slovenia have been consolidated in these 
financial statements.

It should also be noted that, through subsidiaries of the 
investee LE Trading AS, test supplies to end customers in 
Macedonia and Montenegro have begun.
The trading activities continued to mature and to undergo 
a gradual strategic change in order to become a perfect lo-
gistical platform that allows us to exchange electricity and 
gas anywhere in Europe. In this way, we intend to seize as 
many opportunities as possible from the European end-cu-
stomer market. In addition, towards the end of the year, 
we resumed vigorously the management and dispatching of 
production plants from renewable sources, an activity that 
will bear fruit during 2019.
As many of you know, 2018 has been a particularly proble-
matic year for the industry in which we operate. In addition 
to the economic difficulties of some operators in the sector, 
there is also a macroeconomic and regulatory scenario that 
is certainly not characterised by stability. It is enough to 
mention the umpteenth postponement of the path towards 
complete liberalisation of the electricity market, the deadli-
ne for which has so far been postponed to 2020, without, 
however, providing the slightest indication of how it is inten-
ded to achieve it. In the midst of this context, leading natio-
nal companies have tended to be overly inward-looking by 

      

pursuing oligopolistic drifts (or even monopolistic ones sup-
ported by embarrassing statements by certain politicians). 
The banking system is going through a crisis that seems 
endless. The resulting corporate deals have devastating im-
pacts on the real economy of SMEs as they inevitably lead 
to a reduction in bank credit lines (just think of the impact 
on the north-east of the Intesa - Popolare Vicenza - Veneto 
Banca deal).
Despite this environment, the results for the year just ended 
were among the best in the history of the Europe Energy 
Holding Group. EBITDA was €4,226,000 (€4,187,000 as 
at 30 September 2017 and €1,961,000 as at 31 March 
2018) while profit after tax was €2,759,000 (€2,581,000 
as at 30 September 2017 and €1,283,000 as at 31 March 
2018) with a turnover of €454,522,000 (€295,348,000 
as at 30 September 2017 and €187,552,000 as at 31 
March 2018). The increase in turnover is due to higher sa-
les volumes but also, and I would even say above all, to the 
increase in the cost of raw materials on the international 
markets. We are pleased to point out that the evolution of 
commodity prices on international markets has not affected 
the expected result of our group, a clear sign of the effecti-
veness of our policies to hedge against the risk of market 
volatility.
The trend in net financial indebtedness was particularly po-
sitive, going from €16,248,000 as at 30 September 2017 
to €15,614,000 as at 30 September 2018 (-4%). The de-
crease in the group’s net financial position was even more 
marked, going from €26,046,000 as at 30 September 
2017 to €16,817,000 as at 30 September 2018 (-35%).
But the news did not end here, indeed on the contrary. 
During the month of September, with effect from 1 Octo-
ber 2018, the business unit of Edlo Energy S.p.A. was ac-
quired. This line of business involved 20 employees and 
16,195 end customers (12,098 electricity and 4,097 gas). 
This acquisition brought to 59,089 the number of final cu-
stomers in Italy, 53.48% of which are concentrated in the 
north-east and 25.96% in the north-west of Italy. I would 
like to welcome all these customers and new colleagues 
into our family.
As you already knew on the occasion of the half-yearly re-
port, on 6 March 2018 our company acquired from the par-
tner BB Holding S.r.l. and from the partner Eugenio Colla 
the respective company shares becoming the sole sharehol-
der of the subsidiary. On that date, Mr. Eugenio Colla also 
left all the corporate positions he held within the Group. 
This event gave rise to a process of managerial renewal that 
led to the entry of Dr. Manlio Costantini as Managing Di-
rector of both Europe Energy Holding and Europe Energy 
S.p.A. 
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Legenda:

ITALIA: 79%
ROMANIA: 16%

SERBIA: 3%
SLOVENIA: 2%

CROAZIA: 0%

In addition to Mr. Manlio Costantini, who has a long expe-
rience at senior level in the Vodafone Group, Dr. Valeria 
Scargetta, a manager with a track record as general mana-
ger of investment funds and companies in the sector, was 
appointed Chief Executive Officer of Europe Energy S.p.A. 
with responsibility for foreign markets. The composition of 
the Board of Directors of Europe Energy S.p.A. is completed 
by Dr. Francesco Mancuso, who for some years now has 
been the sales director of our subsidiary.
The new management team was also strengthened with the 
aim of increasing the responsibility of some internal figures 
rather than recruiting significant external expertise.
This was the basis for a new business plan which was drawn 
up with the help of the consultancy firm 3H Partners. This 
plan, which is currently being presented to the financial 
community, represents the milestone on which to build our 
future. A future in which customers and the satisfaction of 
their needs will always be at the centre. We want to become 
a Smart European Multiutility Company capable of seizing 
all the opportunities that the different markets in which we 
operate will present us with. We want to be increasingly 
streamlined and agile, increasingly digital and internatio-
nal, increasingly driven towards innovation and growth. We 
want to be a player in a market of large companies by beco-
ming a leading virtual operator in the European context. It is 
a huge challenge, but that is precisely why it is so exciting. 
We want to play all the way with great enthusiasm and vita-
lity! It is from here that I send my best wishes to all my fel-
low colleagues who are accompanying me in this challenge: 
never be self-satisfied and overly inward-looking, always go 
in search of that extra step and never stop fighting, together 
we are building something great! 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors
Matteo Ballarin
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The Group currently controls Europe Energy S.p.A. in Italy.

On 19/06/2018 the merger by incorporation into Europe Energy S.p.A. took place. (notary public Paolo Carbone in San Martino 
Buon Albergo (VR) rep. no. 29134, Folder no. 14620) with effect from 1 July 2018, of the wholly-owned subsidiaries Europe 
Energy Sales Management S.r.l., Brenno Power S.r.l., Cognolo Energia S.r.l., Pieve Idroenergia S.r.l., SMBA Energy S.r.l. and 
Europe Energy Efficiency S.r.l.

During the period under review, the Group also indirectly acquired, through its subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A., equity invest-
ments in four companies in the Balkans (more specifically in Romania, Slovenia, Serbia and Croatia) which sell electricity and 
gas to end customers and which at the date of preparation of this report were either newly incorporated or in the start-up phase.

Please note also that the Group holds a connecting interest in LE Trading A.S., an operating company located in the Balkans 
and which in turn has branch offices in several countries of the area.

The financial statements have been drafted in accordance with the international accounting standards, even though the parent 
company has prepared the balance sheet by applying the Italian accounting standards, as usual.

The following image shows the companies that make up the Europe Energy Holding Group as at 30/09/2018:
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During the current financial year, trading activities continued to mature and to undergo a gradual strategic change in order to 
become a perfect logistical platform that allows us to exchange electricity and gas anywhere in Europe. In this way, we intend 
to seize as many opportunities as possible from the European end-customer market. 

To date, the Group operates on all major continental market platforms, whether they be official Power Exchange points or OTC 
brokerage platforms.

The geographical coverage of the market now goes from Great Britain to Turkey and from Spain to Ukraine. The Europe Energy 
Holding Group represents one of the most well-distributed and developed logistics platforms in Europe.

Countries where Europe Energy Holding Group is able to exchange Electricity:

Countries where Europe Energy Holding Group is able to exchange Gas:
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At year-end, the retail portfolio consisted of 33,786 contracts for the supply of electricity (POD) and natural gas (PDR) (25,101 
as at 30 September 2017), an increase of 34.60%.

Countries where Europe Energy is active in the retail market:

On 15 March 2018, Cerved Rating Agency S.p.A. confirmed the rating B1.2 (investment) previously assigned on 21 March 
2017 to Europe Energy S.p.A. This rating was also confirmed on 15 November 2018 following the acquisition of Edlo Energy 
S.p.A.’s business unit.

Cerved Rating Agency S.p.A. is registered as a European rating agency (Credit Rating Agency, CRA), pursuant to EC Regulation 
no. 1060/2009 and subsequent amendments, and is subject to ESMA supervision. Cerved is also recognised as an External 
Credit Assessment Institution (ECAI) under EU Regulation No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament. 

The attribution of the rating entails significant benefits when it comes to reducing the amount of bank guarantees required by 
counterparties. 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

The share capital of Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. is divided into 1,908,730 shares with a nominal value of €1 each held enti-
rely by Matteo Ballarin as of today.

No changes have occurred in the corporate management system, which continues to be “traditional” but governance has chan-
ged from a Sole Director to a Board of Directors.

CORPORATE BODIES

Board of Directors

Chairman

Matteo Ballarin

Managing Director

Manlio Costantini

Sole Statutory Auditor

Stefano Breno

ndependent Auditing Firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.
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The Group achieved a pre-tax result of €3,983,000 (-2% 
compared to €4,066,000 as at 30/09/2017), an EBIT-
DA of €4,226,000 (+1% compared to €4,187,000 as 
at 30/09/2017) while the net profit for the year amoun-
ted to €2,759,000 (+7% compared to €2,581,000 as at 
30/09/2017). The Gross Operating Margin (determined as 
the difference between Revenues and Income and Opera-
ting Costs) amounted to €8,365,000 (€5,080,000 as at 
30/09/2017). Total revenues amounted to €454,522,000 
(€295,348,000 as at 30/09/2017). 

If, as mentioned, 2017 was the year of the definitive clo-
sure of the Gascom affair with the definitive acquisition 
of the related business unit and the subsequent merger 
of Europe Energy Gas & Power S.p.A. into Europe Energy 
S.p.A., 2018 is the year of the beginning of the growth of 
the group’s perimeter.
As mentioned above, the number of supply points in Italy 
rose from 25,101 on 30 September 2017 to 33,786 on 
30 September 2018 (+34.60%). In particular, of these 
33,786 points, 22,925 are electricity supply points and 
10,861 are natural gas supply points.
In the first few months of 2018, the sale to end custo-
mers, through the related subsidiaries or affiliates, began 
in Romania, Croatia, Slovenia and Serbia, which as at 
30/09/2018 came to:

- Energia Gas & Power S.r.l. Romania: 3,658 gas and 3,031 
electricity customers are active, with a total of 6,689 sup-
ply points.
- Energia Gas & Power D.o.o. Slovenia: 741 electricity cu-
stomers are active. 
- Energia Gas & Power D.o.o. Croatia: 248 electricity custo-
mers are active. 
On 28/09/2018, a 35% holding was acquired in Energia 
Gas & Power D.o.o. Serbia, a company that has 1,430 cu-
stomers corresponding in terms of volumes to 3.5% of the 
Serbian market (first operator after the state company).
The trading activity has continued to mature and gradual-
ly change its strategy in order to become a perfect logisti-
cal platform that allows us to exchange electricity and gas 
anywhere in Europe in order to seize all the opportunities 
that the end-customer market will present us with.
The operating profit is shown below (along with the percen-
tage of individual items weighing on the Gross Margin):

Thousands of EUR

Data
as at 

30/09/2018 %

Data
as at 

30/09/2017 %

Revenues and income 454.522 295.348

Cost of raw materials -435.961 -279.195

Gross Margin 18.562 100% 16.153 100%

Personnel costs -3.896 -21% -2.947 -18%

Other operating costs -10.440 -56% -9.019 -56%

EBITDA 4.226 23% 4.187 26%

Depreciation of tangible and intangible 
assets

-160 -1% -145 -1%

EBIT 4.042 22% 4.042 25%

Income from equity investments 502 3% 391 2%

Financial management -585 -0,13% -367 -0,12%

Profit before taxes 3.983 21% 4.066 25%

Taxes -1.561  -8% -1.485 -9%

OPERATING PROFIT 2.422 13% 2.581 16%

Profit attributable to non-controlling 
interests

337 2% 0

Result attributable to the group 2.759 15% 2.581 16%
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During the year, compared to the previous year, the value 
of production increased by 53.4%, which was forecast and 
represented in the Group’s business plan. This increase is 
due to both the increase in the number of end customers 
mentioned above and the increase in wholesale volumes, 
accompanied by the increase in the price of energy on the 
continental markets (just think that Brent from 1 Octo-
ber 2016 to 30 September 2017 fluctuated in a range of 
around US$54 per barrel while from 1 October 2017 to 30 
September 2018 the range of fluctuation was centred on 
US$72 per barrel).

We would like to highlight here the effectiveness of our he-
dging policies and the implicit search for risk-free solutions 
that led to the achievement of the expected results in ter-
ms of EBITDA despite the volatility that characterised the 
prices of raw materials during this year (note that the price 
of electricity futures on European stock exchanges in the 
period under review fluctuated by up to 20%).
Margins increased, however, with regard to energy and na-
tural gas brokerage (gross margin), thanks to an ever greater 
focus on retail activities, supported by the great expertise 
of our trading floor (a combination that we believe to be 
particularly successful).

Thousands of EUR
Data for the fi-

nancial year as at 
30/09/2018

Data for the fi-
nancial year as at 

30/09/2017
Change

Non-current bank payables 636 640 -4

Bonds issued 0 0 0

Other non-current financial liabilities 0 0 0

Non-current financial lease payables 0 0 0

Long term debt 636 640 -4

Cash and cash equivalents -5.777 -4.961 -816

Other current financial assets -1.202 -9.798 8.596

Current financial receivables 0 0 0

Current bank payables 21.958 30.367 -8.409

Current share of non-current debt 0 0 0

Other non-current financial liabilities 0 0 0

Current financial lease payables 0 0 0

Short-term net debt/(liquidity) 14.979 15.608 -630

NET FINANCIAL DEBT 15.614 16.248 -634

Indebitamento/(Disponibilità)  
netto a breve termine 14.979 15.608 -630

INDEBITAMENTO FINANZIARIO NETTO 15.614 16.248 -634

|   EUROPE ENERGY

In fact, the first margin went from €16,153,000 at 
30/09/2017 to €18,562,000 at 30/09/2018. 
This value is worth 4.1% of revenues.
The increase in the Gross margin is directly correlated with 
the increase in the number of customers supplied, while the 
decrease in the impact on turnover is due to the increase in 
the cost of raw materials mentioned above.
The result from ordinary operations (EBIT) pertaining 
to the present financial year amounted to €4,066,000 
(€4,187,000 as at 30/09/2017). 
Net financial expenses amounted to €-585,000 compared 
to €-367,000 in the previous year. 
The Group continued to affirm its strong presence on Euro-
pean markets. Behind this growth by the group are ongoing 
efforts to build ties with leading manufacturers and access 
to the main European platforms, allowing us to achieve sa-
tisfactory results, in contrast with the broader macro-econo-
mic framework.
Net debt has dropped by 4% compared to the previous year 
(Euro 634 thousand) and is detailed in terms of structure 
and changes in the table below:
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Thousands of EUR

Data 
for the finan-
cial year as at 
30/09/2018

Data for the fi-
nancial year as at 

30/09/2017
Change

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4.961 7.210 -2.249

Cash flows from operating business 3.303 -2.966 6.268

Cash flows from investing activities/divestment -2.618 -7.741 5.123

Cash flow from financing assets 131 8.458 -8.326

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5.777 4.961 816

If at 30 September 2017 our financial position had been 
heavily affected by the change in the financial cycle of pay-
ment of electricity in Italy from 60 days as spot contracts, 
as at 31 September we were able to achieve a significant 
improvement by reducing purchases on the power exchange 
and turning mainly to third parties with whom we can settle 
payments according to EFET terms (i.e. 20 days from the 
month of supply). This is not always easily achievable be-
cause it depends on the guarantees and the level of accre-
ditation (alias credit line) that can be obtained from these 
suppliers.
This semester again saw the need to use part of the liquidity 
as guarantee on credit lines to issue sureties in favour of Eu-
ropean operators and suppliers of electricity. In particular, 
the Italian government’s creditworthiness has worsened and 
accordingly, so as that of the national banking system, whi-
ch has continued to have a negative impact on the Group’s 
business. This event, in fact, has had an impact both on 
the Group’s operations and on its finances. The downgrade 
in previous years of the rating of virtually the entire Italian 
banking system makes it impossible for domestic banks to 

issue sureties with acceptable ratings from the main Eu-
ropean network operators and from the main clearers on 
the European power exchanges. The obvious consequence 
is that even when it comes to foreign suppliers, it is incre-
asingly difficult to grant bank guarantees issued by Italian 
banks. This has resulted in the need for the Group to resort 
to foreign banks in order to have such guarantees issued. 
From an economic point of view, moreover, deterioration of 
the conditions on the Italian credit market have led to incre-
ased credit line costs.
The guarantee deposits paid by the Group to guarantee the 
purchase of electricity and natural gas amounted to a total 
of €1,534,000 (€3,029,000 as at 30/09/2017).
With regard to cash flows, the following table details cash 
flows for the current and previous years:
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As mentioned above, the cash flows from operating activities, which enabled us to substantially improve our liquidity, are due 
to greater recourse to third-party suppliers compared to the electricity exchange, which we are obliged to pay on a spot basis.
The capital structure is detailed in the statement below in terms of its items and changes

The Group’s equity covers 53% of the net capital invested (49% as at 30/09/2017).

Thousands of EUR

Data 
for the finan-
cial year as at 
30/09/2018

Data for the fi-
nancial year as at 

30/09/2017
Change

Non-current net assets:    

- tangible and intangible assets 10.666 10.219 447

- investments 2.775 765 2.010

- other non-current net assets/(liabilities) 0 0 0

Total 13.441 10.983 2.457

Net working capital    

- accounts receivable 98.172 29.852 68.321

- other current net assets/(liabilities) 15.411 27.128 -11.716

- accounts payable -93.970 -36.302 -57.668

Total 19.613 20.677 -1.064

Gross invested capital 33.054 31.661 1.393

Miscellaneous provisions:    

- Employee benefits -415 -381 -34

- provisions for risks and expenses and net defer-
red taxes 

488 445 43

Total 73 64 9

Net invested capital 33.127 31.725 1.402

Shareholders' Equity 17.512 15.477 2.036

NET FINANCIAL DEBT 15.614 16.248 -634

|   EUROPE ENERGY
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In the first nine months of 2018, the global macroecono-
mic environment is gradually slowing down and the risks 
to it are increasing. First of all from the intensification 
of trade tensions between the United States and China, 
which have contributed to the deceleration of world trade, 
which, in turn, points to a more marked slowdown in the 
global economy. 
World economic growth now appears to be differentiated, 
with the United States growing faster than Europe, now 
struggling with a more sluggish phase. In fact, the United 
States continues to implement fiscal policies to stimulate 
the economy, unlike the Economic Monetary Union, which 
has adopted a substantially neutral attitude. The signifi-
cant fiscal stimuli initiated by the Trump administration 
since the beginning of the year have so far more than off-
set the domestic effects of the protectionist policies adop-
ted by the United States government, as a result of which 
domestic prices of certain goods have risen. A slowdown 
at the end of 2019, however, is more plausible, when the 
effects of the fiscal stimulus have lost some of their ef-
fectiveness, if at the same time trade tensions are further 
increased. As far as emerging countries are concerned, 
growing concern is being fuelled by the strengthening of 
the dollar, together with the uncertainties caused by the 
escalation of trade tensions, which are creating tensions 
on the currencies of countries with high internal inflation 
and higher foreign debt. On the other hand, given the high 
degree of openness to international trade of many of these 
economies, devaluations will act as a stimulus to exports, 
improving the external balance. 
As for Europe, the main fear is that US import duties will 
be extended to other countries, including Europe, in a 
context already characterised by a slowdown in euro zone 
exports in the first part of the year. There is also uncer-
tainty about the prospects for European governance and 
doubts about the resilience of the moderate forces in next 
year’s European elections, given the tensions on the issue 
of immigration and the still-high level of unemployment. 
The possibility of a sharp slowdown is countered by the 
good rate of growth of investments in capital goods (dou-
ble that of 2017) and the growth spread among European 
countries, which appears, however, more modest for Fran-
ce and Italy. In Italy, the slowdown in its growth rate in the 
first half of the year was more marked than that of other 
European countries. On the external front, exports have 
particularly suffered as a result of the threat of trade wars, 
the slowdown in the main trading partners and the crisis in 
some emerging countries; on the internal front, there are 
doubts linked to the economic policy lines that the Italian 
government intends to adopt and their compatibility with 
the indications and commitments undertaken within the 
European Union, with consequent tensions on public debt 
and the risk of a worsening of public accounts. 

During the first nine months of 2018, the euro appre-
ciated by 7.3% against the US dollar compared with the 
same period in 2017, reaching €1.19 per US dollar. The 
appreciation of the US dollar in recent months has been 
driven by the solid expansion of the US economy and the 
gradual restrictive policy adopted by the Fed. Moreover, 
at its last meeting in September, the ECB confirmed the 
decisions taken in June to end the quantitative easing se-
curities purchase programme at the end of 2018 and to 
maintain interest rates at their current level at least until 
summer 2019. 
In the oil markets, the average crude oil price for the first 
nine months of 2018 was USD 72.7/barrel, up 38.1% 
compared with the average for the same period in 2017. 
The main factor that supported the quotations during the 
year was the expectation of a reduction in supply on the 
oil market, following the decision of the United States to 
reintroduce sanctions against Iran. The June revision of 
the agreement between OPEC and its allies on production 
cuts, with the aim of lowering the overall level of com-
pliance to 100%, led to an increase in supply, contribu-
ting to the fall in prices between June and August. Since 
mid-August, prices have been rising again as a result of 
the upward revision of Iran’s oil export reduction estima-
tes, which started to fall even before the sanctions came 
into force at the beginning of November. These tensions 
led the price of Brent to reach USD 82.7/barrel on 28 
September, with a peak from November 2014. 
Gross demand for electric power in Italy in the third quar-
ter of 2018 was 83.9 TWh, up 1 TWh (+1.3%) compa-
red with the same period last year. The increase is mainly 
due to higher than average temperatures in September. 
Overall, net domestic production increased (+0.7 TWh) 
compared with the third quarter of 2017, covering, net 
of pumping, about 88% of demand, in line with the same 
quarter of 2017, while net imports satisfied the remaining 
12%.  Overall, gross demand for electric power totalled 
242.2 TWh in the first nine months of 2018, or 1.5 TWh 
more (+0.6%) than in the same period last year.
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In a press release dated 28 June 2018, ARERA (the Regu-
latory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment), 
for the electricity sector, in order to mitigate the impact 
of the current economic situation, intervened with a mo-
dulation of the general system costs, so as to reduce the 
increase in expenditure for domestic and non-domestic cu-
stomers, with the same effects on both the protected and 
the free market. As a result, from 1 July next, energy expen-
diture for the “protected” family will increase by 6.5% for 
electricity and 8.2% for natural gas, in contrast to the sharp 
falls (-8% for electricity and -5.7% for gas) in the second 
quarter of 2018. 
For gas, the impact on household spending is less signi-
ficant given the very low consumption during the summer 
period.
As mentioned, the increase for electricity would have been 
more substantial in the absence of the important interven-
tion of the economic ‘shield’ activated by the Authority 
through the system charges, whose total value for 2018 
is estimated at €14 billion. In order to reduce the imme-
diate burden on consumers, the Authority has decided to 
partly lighten the tariff levy on general charges, offsetting 
it with cash-stocks. This is a measure that will benefit all 
consumers in the same way, whether protected or in the free 
market, made possible by the policy of financial recovery 
implemented by the Regulator in the last 7 years, despite 
a trajectory of tripling the need for burdens and that has 
made it possible to fill the financial deficits in 2011. The 
reduction in charges for the July-September 2018 quarter 
will have to be reinstated, with future recovery interventions 
on the same users.
With regard to the price scenario at 30 September 2018, 
the average 2018 price of the Single National Price (abbre-
viated in Italian as PUN) was €58.9/MWh, or almost 15% 
more than in the same period last year (€51.3/MWh). An 
analysis of the monthly trend of the PUN shows that the 
most significant deviations occurred in January, March and 
September, with January down sharply compared with the 
same month in 2017, due to higher imports from neighbou-
ring countries and mild temperatures. In September 2018, 
on the other hand, the PUN was higher, rising several times 
to values close to €90/MWh due to restrictions on interzone 
transits and imports from France, in addition to the afore-
mentioned increase in production costs. The following chart 
compares the monthly trend in the first nine months of the 
two years under review:

   
In the first nine months of 2018, increases were also re-
corded in area prices, albeit with non-homogeneous va-
riations due to the different impact of the climatic and 
structural factors mentioned above (+12.3% in the North 
and +21.2% in the South). Groups of F1, F2 and F3 hours 
increased across all time bands, in line with the increase 
reported by the PUN (+12.2%, 14.4% and 17.4% compa-
red with the first nine months of 2017). The upward trend 
has also been found in prices in foreign countries: in parti-
cular, in the first nine months of 2018, prices rose by 12% 
in France and by 20.7% in Germany, where the average 
was €41.7/MWh. The rise in German prices, especially in 
recent months, has also been affected by the rise in coal 
and CO2 prices. 
In the third quarter of 2018, demand for natural gas in 
Italy was substantially in line with the previous year, closing 
at about 12.9 billion cubic metres, for an overall incre-
ase of about 0.1 billion cubic metres.  In the first nine 
months of the year, demand for natural gas came to 51.4 
billion cubic metres, a decrease of 0.5 billion cubic metres 
(-1.1%) compared with the same period in 2017, with an 
increase in withdrawals that was up in the residential sec-
tor (+4.9%), stable in the industrial sector and down in 
the thermoelectric sector (-8%). In the first nine months 
of 2018, the spot price of gas in Italy increased by 25.6% 
compared with the same period in 2017, rising to 25 cents 
per cubic metre. The prices showed an upward trend during 
the year, recording an average value of €0.277/smc in the 
third quarter, up 45.5% compared to the same period in 
2017. The PSV-TTF spread averaged €0.15/smc over the 
nine months, down 31.3% on the same period of the pre-
vious year. During the third quarter, the price differential 
was €0.17/smc, down almost 14% on the previous quarter. 
This movement was caused by the higher increases recor-
ded in the FTT, supported by tensions in the gas markets 
of Northern Europe, characterised by low levels of stockpile 
filling and a reduction in flows from Norway.
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We draw your attention to the fact that the most significant reforms introduced in the period under review concern the regula-
tion of the industry in which the Group operates.

Regulatory proceedings initiated by decisions of the Authority 342/2016/E/Eel and 459/2016/E/Eel and subsequent amend-
ments
Following the results of the investigation, as part of this procedure, the final prescriptive measures were notified with which 
the Authority ascertained non-diligent strategies - as part of the planning of UC and UP - from which the operators would draw 
significant margins; by adopting these measures, the operators in question were required (if they had not already done so) to 
return to Terna the amounts deriving from the application of the imbalance fees from which they would have unduly benefited.
At the date of preparation of the financial statements, the company had obtained the precautionary suspension of the contested 
measures without the provision of any guarantees.

Provisions on the conduct of adjustment sessions with reference to the years from 2013 until the entry into force of the new 
regulation on gas settlement: 
Resolution 670/2017/r/gas of 05 October 2017
This resolution approved the first provisions concerning gas settlement for the implementation of adjustment sessions for the 
period from 2013 to the entry into force of the new regulations. The measure concerns the methodology to be used to deter-
mine the physical and economic adjustment items. Specifically, for the determination of the economic items, a procedure is 
provided for in two processes: i) the first is functional to the calculation of the balance of the economic items attributed to 
the user of the balancing service (UdB) at the time of the final balance, applying the algorithm already used in the balancing 
session and recalculating the imbalance of each UdB; ii) the second is aimed at leveraging the applicable amount of each 
UdB, subject to compensation, of the difference between input and output at the point of redelivery of the transport network 
(ReMi), by dividing the annual share of this difference recognised in proportion to the annual withdrawals allocated to the UdB 
by the ReMi. This method, already used for balancing sessions, is considered to be the closest to that proposed for the new 
regulation on gas settlement.

Resolution 72/2018/r/gas of 08 February 2018 on reform of the regulation regarding gas settlement.
With this resolution, the Energy Authority launched the reform of the regulation on gas settlement, approving the “Integrated 
text of the provisions for the regulation of physical and economic items of the natural gas balancing service” (Tisg) - attached 
to the measure - which shall enter into force on 1 January 2020. The measure provides for the confirmation of the execution 
of monthly balancing sessions and subsequent adjustment sessions but simplifies the procedures for determining physical and 
economic items: the user of the balancing service will be required to supply the city gate with quantities determined on the 
basis of the measures communicated by distributors, adjusted to the parameter of climate correction Wkr introduced in the 
resolution for withdrawal points with a frequency of detection lower than the monthly figure. It is also expected that Snam Rete 
Gas will supply the difference between the total quantities withdrawn at each city gate and the sum of the quantities as defined 
above and falling within the competence of all users of the balancing service active on them. The IIS is expected to be used 
for the profiling activities necessary to determine the withdrawals for which each user of the balancing service is responsible 
and, consequently, the economic and physical balancing adjustment items, to determine and make available to operators the 
parameter indicating the annual withdrawal (CApdr), to assign the withdrawal profile and to make the information available to 
all operators. Lastly, the resolution delegates to the person responsible for balancing the definition of a consultation document 
concerning the review of two interrelated processes: the process of mapping the commercial relationships between users of the 
balancing service and users of distribution and the process of allocating transmission capacity to the redelivery points of the 
transmission network interconnected with distribution facilities (city gates) and the related exit points. 

Resolution 783/2017/r/com of 23 November 2017 with provisions on the revision of the implementation methods relating to 
the regulation of withdrawal from contracts for the supply of electricity and gas.
With Resolution 783/2017/r/com, the Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment (hereinafter ARERA) has 
established new rules aimed at simplifying the regulation of withdrawal, which has been merged into the Integrated Informa-
tion System managed by AU. The resolution essentially introduces three new features: i) in the event of a negative switching 
outcome, the customer retains the current seller instead of being assigned to the service of last resort; ii) the switching request 
also serves as an exercise of withdrawal, allowing “a considerable efficiency of the operations of the parties concerned from 
a functional point of view - abolishing the disclosure obligations from incoming sellers to outgoing sellers and from the latter 
to the IIS - without adding costs for the adaptation of information systems”, underlines the Authority; iii) the procedures for 
exercising withdrawal are extended to all end customers and are no longer limited, therefore, to the exercise of withdrawal, 
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therefore, to the current seller instead of being assigned to the service of last resort. 
The new provisions will be effective from 15 February 2018 for the electricity sector. In the gas sector, on the other hand, the 
reformed transactions and processes will be managed within the IIS from 1 November 2018.

Resolution 849/2017/r/com of 05 December 2017 on amendments to Bill 2.0 and the Code of Business Conduct, resulting 
from the new tariff structure for general system charges for the electricity sector, applicable to end customers from 1 January 
2018.
With this resolution, amendments were made to Bill 2.0 and the Code of Business Conduct, resulting from the new tariff 
structure for general system charges for the electricity sector, applicable to end customers from 1 January 2018. With refe-
rence to Bill 2.0, the amendments concern details relating to the content of the aggregations of the amounts invoiced for end 
customers served under the regime of greater protection, as set out in Table 1 of Annex A to Resolution 501/2014/R/com.
The item “Expenditure for system charges” in the Glossary of electricity bills (Annex A to Resolution 200/2015/R/com) was 
also updated as a result of the related reform.
The text of the notice promoted by the Guarantor for the protection of personal data (point 3 of Resolution 256/2016/R/eel) 
has also been replaced, to be included in all bills directed to resident domestic customers and containing the first charge of the 
Rai fee, in order to take into account the updates relating to the tariff reform covering network services.
Finally, the Code of Commercial Conduct has been updated with reference to the structure of general charges relating to sup-
port for renewable energy and cogeneration.

Resolution 850/2017/r/gas of 05 December 2017, laying down provisions on the extension and updating of the data contained 
in the official central register of the integrated information system, with reference to the natural gas sector.
With this resolution, provisions were laid down regarding the extension and updating of the data contained in the Official Cen-
tral Register (RCU) of the Integrated Information System (IIS) with regard to the gas sector. In particular, the set of information 
contained in the RCU in relation to each redelivery point (PdR) is to be extended with new data relating to the point itself and 
its location, as well as to the end customer associated with it, identification data of the operators associated with the PdR and 
technical data relating to the meter, as well as data of commercial and statistical relevance, data useful for the management 
of settlement and the payment of the social bonus. Since January 2018, data relating to the distinction between PDRs served 
in the free market and in the protection service have been uploaded. In April 2018, there was a massive upload of the rest of 
the new data. Since June 2018, all data has been updated “on condition” (by each person responsible for the correctness of 
the data for which they are responsible). 

Ministerial Decree of 18 December 2017  published in the Official Gazette General Series No. 10 of 13-1-2018
With the Ministerial Decree of 18 December 2017, the Minister of Economic Development (hereinafter MISE), having heard 
the opinion of the Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment, approved: i) the urgent amendments to the 
regulation of the natural gas market (hereinafter MGAS Regulation) made pursuant to Article 3, subsection 3.6, of the Regu-
lation itself and effective from 1 October 2017, in order to overcome the transitional procedures for the management of the 
MGS referred to in point 6 of Resolution no. 66/2017/R/GAS, and to adapt the same Regulation to the provisions of the sub-
sequent Resolution no. 349/2017/R/GAS on the subject of “neutrality” of the Head of the Balancing Service; ii) the ordinary 
amendments to the MGAS Regulation made pursuant to Article 3, subsection 3.5, in order to standardise the “contract size” 
of the products currently listed on MGP-GAS, MI-GAS, MPL and MT-GAS with that adopted in the main European gas markets. 
The above-mentioned ordinary amendments to the MGAS Regulation became effective on 10 January 2018. 

Resolution 848/2017/r/com of 05 December 2017 identifying the instrument for the comparison of free market price offers at 
conditions equivalent to those of protection (PLACET offers) and clarification of Resolution 555/2017/r/com by the authority, 
as amended by Resolution 89/2018/r/com of 15 February 2018
With this resolution, the Authority has gradually implemented the portal for the collection and publication of current offers 
on the retail market provided for by competition law, using it initially for the comparison of PLACET offers, or offers at a free 
market price at conditions equivalent to those of protection.
The measure subjects all sellers of electricity and natural gas to the obligation to transmit information on PLACET offers to the 
Single Buyer (AU), in the manner and within the deadlines that the latter will identify within 20 days of the publication of the 
same measure. In addition, the measure instructs the AU to verify the compliance of the sellers with the aforesaid requirements 
and to inform the Authority on a monthly basis of the relative results for the appropriate follow-ups falling within its remit. With 
a resolution of amendment, then the Authority approved the modules of the general conditions of supply of free market price 
offers at conditions equivalent to those of protection (PLACET). The provisions adopted took effect on 1 March 2018, in line 
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with the deadline by which all sellers were required to make PLACET offers available on the retail market.
The modules are four, divided by supply (electricity and gas) and by type of customer (domestic and non-domestic), and con-
stitute the benchmark for the relevant contracts. The sellers who adopt the modules may not make changes and/or additions, 
including through supplementary agreements and additional contract, any additional clauses included in the general conditions 
of supply, other than those covered by the modules, are therefore considered not affixed. The forms will be subject to periodic 
review by the Authority where necessary to align their content with future regulatory and legislative changes.

ELECTRONIC INVOICE: legal obligations introduced by Article 1, subsections 909-916, of Law no. 205 of 27 December 2017 
(the so-called 2018 Budget Law)
The law in question provides that, from 1 January 2019, the exchange of invoices for the supply of goods and services betwe-
en persons resident or established for VAT purposes in Italy must be made exclusively through the “Exchange System” (SDI) 
according to the procedures set out therein, except for cases of exemption and electronic invoicing already in place with the 
PA. Electronic invoices issued to final consumers are made available to them by the Italian Tax Agency’s telematic services.

Resolution 51/2018/r/com of 01 February 2018 setting up of the portal for the publication of offers to household end custo-
mers and small businesses in the retail markets of electricity and natural gas, pursuant to Law 124/2017
With Resolution 51/2018/R/com, the Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and the Environment (ARERA) defined the 
rules for the implementation and management by the Integrated Information System Operator (IIS) of the Offer Portal for the 
collection and publication of all offers in the retail markets of electricity and natural gas, addressed to domestic end customers 
and small/medium-sized enterprises.
This measure implements the Annual Law on Market and Competition (No. 124/2017).
Unlike the first phase of implementation of the Offer Portal, which saw the inclusion of only PLACET offers, the measure pro-
vides for the progressive development of the same in the following phases:   
•by 1 July 2018: upload and publication in the Portal of all PLACET offers for electricity and natural gas;
•by 1 September 2018: loading and publication of offers of electricity and natural gas (including dual fuel) addressed to dome-
stic customers and formulated by: (i) sellers present in the FindOffers at the date of entry into force of Resolution 51/2018/R/
com; (ii) sellers who, although not accredited to the FindOffers, request the IIS operator to publish their offers;
•by 1 December 2018: upload and publication of: (i) all other offers aimed at the generality of small final customers, advertised 
or distributed on the websites and/or at the physical counters of the sellers, on other websites and in the main media with a 
territorial coverage at least equal to the region; (ii) offers not advertised in the manner referred to in point (i), in the event that 
the sellers request publication from the IIS operator

Resolution 77/2018/r/com of 08 February 2018 on reform of the switching process in the natural gas retail market.
With this resolution, the Regulatory Authority for Energy Networks and Environment (hereinafter: ARERA) defined: 
• with regard to the natural gas operations, the following are included in the scope of the IIS: i) implementation of the 
following procedures: switching, updating of the commercial counterparty, activation of services of last resort, recording and 
making available of measurement data in the event of a change of supplier; ii) homogenisation of the regulations in force with 
regard to contractual termination of the distribution contract with those in force in the electrical power operations, where any 
differences are not justified by specific needs and peculiarities of the sector;
• the maintenance of the forecast according to which the starting date of the switching must coincide with the first day 
of the month and the request must be submitted by the 10th day of the previous month;
• that the failure of the user of the service (UdD) previously served in the Default Transmission Service (SdDT) to pay 
in full the amounts invoiced under the SdDT constitutes a cause for termination of the distribution contract, 12 months after 
the expiry of the last invoice relating to the SdDT itself.
The measure specifies that the reformed transactions and processes will be managed within the IIS from 1 November 2018.

Resolution 97/2018/r/com of 22 February 2018 urgent implementation of the provisions of Law 205/2017 on invoicing and 
measurement in the retail electricity market and initiation of proceedings for full implementation of these provisions in the 
electricity and natural gas sectors
With this resolution, which implements in the regulation the provisions of the 2018 Budget Law, the Energy Authority has 
provided that in relation to electricity bills due after 1 March 2018 - in cases of significant delays in invoicing by sellers or in 
invoicing of adjustments for unavailability of actual data for a particularly significant period - the customer can object to the 
so-called short limitation period (which dropped from 5 to 2 years) and pay only the last 24 months invoiced. In addition, in 
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the event of delay by the seller in invoicing the balances (even if the adjustment measurement data are available in a timely 
manner) for consumption for periods longer than two years, the customer is entitled to suspend payment, subject to a complaint 
to the seller and if the Antitrust Authority (AGCM) has initiated proceedings against the latter, and will also have the right to 
receive a refund of payments made if the AGCM procedure ends with the assessment of a violation.
The law and the resolution concern the so-called “maxibollette” (or maxi-bills), i.e. amounts much higher than usual, resulting 
from significant delays by the sellers (e.g. billing block), adjustments to the measurement data previously provided by the 
distributor and used to invoice or persistent missing meter readings by the distributors, where this absence is not attributable 
to the conduct of the end customer. The resolution identifies the expiry of the two-year limitation period provided for by the 
2018 Budget Law from the moment within which the sellers are obliged to issue the invoicing document, as identified by the 
regulations in force. 
With regard to the gas sector, on the other hand, the 2018 Budget Law establishes that the two-year short prescription will be 
applied to invoices due after 1 January 2019.

Entry into force of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the pro-
tection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data. 
On 4 May 2016, the new General Data Protection Regulation (hereinafter also referred to as GDPR) was published in the Offi-
cial Gazette of the European Union. 
There are numerous and substantial innovations introduced in the field of personal data protection by the New Regulation. The 
provisions of the New Regulation are applicable from 25 May 2018, the date from which the companies (Private Companies 
and Public Administrations) that are to perform, as part of their activities, a processing of personal data, must be adequate to 
the provisions of the new legislation. The new provisions have organisational, operational and technological impacts since they 
introduce an approach to the protection of personal data based on the Responsibility of the Data Controller, who will have to 
adopt the appropriate organisational and technical measures to process and protect the data in accordance with the Regulation 
and prove it. 
Subsequently, Legislative Decree 101/2018 was published in the Official Gazette of the Italian Republic, harmonising with 
the aforesaid EU Regulation no. 679 of 2016, which coordinates the national legislation with the new European regulation on 
privacy and came into force on 19 September 2018.

Resolution 277/2018/r/tlr of 03 May 2018 on amendments and implementing measures to the provisions on connection fees 
and methods of exercising the right of withdrawal.
With this resolution, the deadline for compliance with the information requirements set out in subsection 7.1 of the Consoli-
dated Law on the regulation of connection fees and the right of withdrawal for district heating and cooling services (TUAR), 
approved by Resolution 24/2018/R/tlr, was postponed from 1 June 2018 to 1 October 2018, at the reasoned request of the 
operators. The paragraph in question concerns the obligation to send the Authority a summary report on the connections made, 
which will therefore apply to connection requests received from 1 October instead of 1 June 2018. 

Resolution 366/2018/r/com of 28 June 2018 on harmonising and simplifying the comparability sheets for household end 
customers of the Code of Business Conduct.
With this resolution, the Regulatory Authority for Energy Networks and Environment (hereinafter: ARERA or Authority) has ap-
proved the interventions for the harmonisation of the criteria for calculating the annual expenditure of the comparability sheets 
of the Code of Business Conduct with those of the Offer Portal, as well as interventions for the simplification of the structure 
of the sheets themselves.
Specifically, ARERA has decided to:
• regarding the harmonisation of the estimate criteria of the annual expenditure: (i) include discounts in the calcula-
tion of the estimated annual expenditure (including those applied automatically by virtue of acceptance of the offer and those 
received by the customer if he does not terminate the contract before the year), giving separate evidence of any other condi-
tional discounts. It also specifies how to manage discounts that do not contribute to the reduction of the taxable base and, for 
multi-year offers, any automatic changes in the economic conditions applicable after 12 months; ii) use the same criterion 
provided for in the Regulations of the Offer Portal to estimate the annual expenditure of the variable price components in the 
comparability sheets; iii) exclude from delivery to the final customer the comparability sheets relating to non-generalised offers. 
• with regard to simplifying the structure of the cards and improving display clarity: i) confirm the harmonization of the 
structure of the power and gas cards; ii) provide for the power card to present a comparison of the most protected service, exclu-
sively referring to the distribution of consumption between the time bands related to the “standard profile”, but specifying the 
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indicative distribution of consumption of the standard profile between the bands F1, F2 and F3; iii) confirm the simplification 
of the dual fuel card; iv) introduce changes to the combinations of annual consumption level (in kWh), committed power and 
type of dwelling used in the power card presented in consultation.
The new provisions on comparability sheets will apply from 1 October 2018.

Resolution 406/2018/r/com of 26 July 2018 on the entry into force of the regulation of the indemnification system within the 
Integrated Information System for the electricity and natural gas sectors.
With this resolution, the dates of entry into force of the indemnification system regulations within the Integrated Information 
System (IIS) for the electricity and gas sectors were identified: 1 December 2018 in the case of the electricity sector and 1 
June 2019 for the gas sector.
In view of the entry into force of the regulations, as regards the electricity sector, the operator of the indemnification system and 
of the Single Buyer shall: define and implement a procedure for the migration within the IIS of all practices that have been de-
clared admissible or whose admissibility is still being verified since the entry into force of the indemnification system; publish 
on its site the date of commencement of the migration transactions. From the start of the migration operations, it will not be 
possible to make claims for compensation, cancellation or suspension through the current compensation system management 
system; these will only be sent within the framework of the IIS from 1 December 2018.

REGULATORY CHANGES AFTER 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
Approval of the proposal for terms and conditions relating to balancing, submitted pursuant to EU Regulation 2017/2195 (Ba-
lancing Regulation) and verification of compliance with the relevant proposals to amend the network transmission, dispatching, 
development and safety code - Resolution 535/2018/R/EEL of 23 October 2018 
With the publication of Resolution 535/2018/R/EEL, the ARERA approved the proposal concerning the terms and conditions 
for balancing services prepared by TERNA in accordance with EU Regulation 2017/2195 (the so-called Balancing Regulation), 
and positively verified the related amendments to the Network Code, with the exception of those concerning the coordination 
between MI and MSD. Specifically, the proposals to amend the Network Code relate to two main issues: i) coordination between 
the MSD and the Platform for Exchange of Replacement Reserves (hereinafter RR Platform), which will be used to integrate 
the European balancing market segment into the national dispatching segment; (iv) coordination between MI and MSD, in view 
of the future introduction of intraday trading continues until hour h-1 as required by European Regulation no. 2015/1222 (the 
so-called CACM Regulation). 

Provisions for the strengthening of safeguards for the benefit of end customers in cases of invoicing of amounts referring to 
consumption dating back more than two years - Resolution 569/2018/r/com of 13 November 2018.
From 1 January 2019 also for gas bills, in cases of significant delays in invoicing due to the responsibility of the seller or distri-
butor, the customer can object to the limitation and pay only the invoiced amounts relating to consumption more recent than 2 
years. In order to increase transparency on the amounts prescribed and to make it easier for the customer to exercise its right, 
sellers will be required to issue a separate invoice containing only amounts for consumption dating back more than 2 years. 
Alternatively, these amounts must be clearly and comprehensibly indicated in the invoice, which also contains the amounts for 
consumption which is most recent than 2 years. In any case, sellers are required to inform the customer of the possibility of 
objecting to the prescribed amounts and to provide a format that facilitates the communication of his willingness not to pay.
Interventions following the provisions of Law 205/2017 on electronic invoicing concerning Bill 2.0, the standard network 
code for the electricity transmission service and the standard network code for the distribution of natural gas - Resolution 
712/2018/r/com of 27 December 2018   
This measure sets forth the initial provisions concerning summary bills for end customers and accounting documents for the 
natural gas distribution and electricity transmission service, which are intended to ensure substantial coordination of the Au-
thority’s current regulations with the legislative innovations concerning electronic invoicing set forth in the 2018 Budget Law, 
aimed at ensuring the achievement of the underlying objectives of sector-specific regulation, while complying with the new 
legislative obligations.
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The risk assessment and management process is closely 
linked to the strategic planning process, with the aim of 
associating the overall risk profile of the Group itself with 
the prospective profitability resulting from the plan/budget 
documents. Please note that currently, the main risk area 
is represented by the Group’s industry, which has taken on 
a strongly financial connotation. In this regard, as stated 
above, the Group is pursuing a strategy to diversify its busi-
ness both with reference to the types of markets and to the 
geographical reference areas.

Market risk

The energy markets in which the Group operates recorded a 
slight recovery during the 2017/2018 financial year, despi-
te the fact that competitive pressure remains high.

In the Italian electricity market, there was a slight increase 
in demand during the first few months of 2018, mainly sa-
tisfied by increased hydroelectric production, which benefi-
ted from more favourable weather conditions than in 2017, 
and by a recovery in imports from France, after the decrease 
recorded last year due to the unavailability of some nuclear 
power plants.

In the natural gas market, during the first half of 2018, the-
re was a slight decrease in overall demand compared with 
the same period last year: the lower consumption linked in 
particular to the thermoelectric sector was largely offset by 
an increase in the residential and industrial sectors.

The clauses for renegotiating the price of long-term gas 
supply contracts and the constant monitoring of changes 
in the energy scenario and market conditions are important 
mitigating factors for the Group.

Despite the above, the growing volatility of energy commo-
dities (electricity, oil, coal and other derivatives) over the 
last few years has led to an increased exposure to fluctua-
tions in the economic result of companies in the industry. 

This risk area is found mainly in the procurement stage, 
because the Group’s purchases are subject to seasonal 
fluctuations in energy and natural gas prices, which it tends 
to limit and reduce.

In this context, besides regularly monitoring the trend in 
prices in the industry, in particular of electricity and natural 
gas, the Group hedges the cost through the acquisition of 
derivative financial instruments.

The potential risks to which the Group may be exposed are 
also tied to non-bilateral purchases and/or sales (i.e. com-
mitment to purchase energy that is not sold, or vice-versa), 
or to misaligned electricity and natural gas purchase and 
selling prices The first risk is avoided through sound mana-
gement of our contract portfolio, while in the event of the 
second risk, the Company resorts to instruments to manage 
the risk of prices referred to as CFD (contracts for differen-

ce). These contracts enable the Company to establish the 
effects on sales margins, regardless of changes in market 
conditions. 

Regulatory risk

A potential source of risk is the constant evolution of the 
legislative and regulatory framework, which affects the mar-
ket, fee plans, the levels of service quality required, and te-
chnical and operational obligations. This risk area, in fact, 
is tied to the current technical complexity of the industry, 
which requires a consistent update of the resolutions of the 
different competent authorities in the field, both nationally 
and internationally.

In this regard, the Europe Energy Holding Group has further 
strengthened the Legal & Compliance area, which now con-
sists of three in-house lawyers with key experience in legal 
matters, in order to ensure ongoing monitoring of newly in-
troduced laws in the industry and adapt to them efficiently 
so as to limit their economic impact as much as possible. 

For the same reason, Europe Energy S.p.A. became a mem-
ber of the EFET (European Federation of European Traders) 
and was granted membership in AIGET (Association of Ita-
lian Energy Wholesalers and Traders). In addition, it should 
be noted that the Head of the Group Legal Department, 
Loredana Pasqualini, is the Vice President of AIGET.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations, espe-
cially in terms of financial expenses associated with the 
overall debt.

In addition it regularly assesses its exposure to the risk of 
changes in interest rates. Its main objective is to reduce the 
fluctuation in the volatility of financial charges. We have 
achieved this goal by combining the fixed and variable rate 
in debt structure, if need be, resorting to appropriate hed-
ging.

Credit risk

With reference to the risk of potential losses deriving from 
the non-fulfilment of the obligations assumed by the va-
rious counterparties with which the Group operates, it has 
for some time now implemented procedures and tools for 
the evaluation and selection of counterparties on the basis 
of credit standing and the continuous monitoring of expo-
sure to the various counterparties.

However, the exposure to credit risk is mainly linked to the 
growing commercial activity of selling electricity and natu-
ral gas on the retail market.

In order to control this risk, the Group has adopted a spe-



32

cific procedure for credit risk management, and from 2015 it has signed with Coface SA a specific policy for the insurance of 
commercial credit to business customers, renewed in February for another two years.

This operation, besides lowering the risk on current customers, provided more risk assessment tools that drive pre-sales activi-
ties in order to minimise counterparty risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages the liquidity risk with the aim of limiting the risk that the financial resources available are not sufficient to 
cope with its financial and commercial obligations within the predetermined terms and deadlines.

With reference to its cash-flows, please note that, apart from fluctuations in prices that are typical of our line of business, there 
is no evidence of particular risks in the financial realm, because: 

1. The Group made a choice ahead of time insofar as concerns its wholesale to sell energy to wholesalers, largely muni-
cipal companies or major operators, which guarantees timely payments, or to counterparts that issue bank sureties;

2. for sales of electricity and natural gas to end customers, the Group applied custom pre-sales procedures in order to 
avoid the risk of unpaid bills and insure business client credit. Moreover, the Group applies all the procedures for switching off 
and immediate interruption of service, in keeping with the specific industry regulations.

Our strategic goal is to ensure that at all times the Group is able to comply with its financial deadlines in the upcoming twelve 
months.
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The business outlook for the next financial year focuses on increasing the number of end customers supplied, both in Italy and 
abroad. In Italy, in particular, there is a desire to push increasingly towards commercial collection, to which some specific M&A 
operations must be added in order to reach the threshold of 50,000 withdrawal points supplied.
Companies in the Balkans, in which they have acquired a stake or control, will have to implement the supply to end customers 
through a path of lasting and reliable growth in terms of collection of contracts.
We will seek to expand the network of countries in which we are present in the retail market, through specific start-ups or through 
corporate acquisitions.

A highly volatile market is expected, mainly due to international scenarios that will certainly have an impact on the price of raw 
materials. As a result, the focus on hedging policies will increase even more, also through the hiring of specialist personnel (in 
particular, in recent months, three new employees have been hired within the trading office).
The Group will continue the activity in the short term, i.e. supplies with delivery ranging from single hour (daily and intra-day 
markets) up to one month at the most, or OTC transactions with primary standing counterparts. In fact, all contracts have been 
signed with institutional partners and demanding sufficient guarantees, in order to cancel the credit risk.
Short-term markets, with particular reference to the intra-day and daily markets, are the main investment focus in terms of know-
how and corporate growth as a whole in the coming years. These markets are among the most profitable, especially because of 
their risk level, having very limited underlying elements, in view of the reduced time horizon to which they refer. On the other hand, 
this business venture requires a widespread presence and considerable investments in terms of knowledge and understanding of 
cross-border energy flows and the dynamics of domestic production. To successfully tackle these Challenges, the Group runs its 
business 7 days a week.
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Civil Code

Relations with associates and related parties
All transactions with related parties fall within the Group’s 
standard business administration and are regulated by 
standard market conditions, i.e. those that would normally 
apply between two independent parties. For further details, 
please refer to the tables in the Explanatory Notes.

Information about the Environment
We believe that the Group’s energy trading with wholesalers 
respects the laws on environmental protection in the energy 
industry, and that there is no likelihood of liabilities arising 
and/or of damage to the environment.

Corporate workforce overview
The Group’s workforce as of 30 September 2018 consists 
of 106 no. (55 no. al 30/09/17) divided as follows:

For consolidation purposes, we have proceeded to:
 -    the preparation of the sub-consolidation of the Energia 
Gas and Power Romania sub-group at 30/09/18;
- prepare the sub-consolidated financial statements 
of sub-group Europe Energy S.p.A. as of 30/09/2016;
- elimination of the “equity investments” of the 
sub-consolidated companies from the financial statements 
of the parent company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. and 
recording of the related consolidation differences.

Investments
As regards investments in financial assets, which at 
30/09/2018 amounted to €1,202,000 (€9,798,000 as at 
30/09/2017) decreased mainly due to the collection of a 
short-term interest-bearing loan from LE Trading AS, a com-
pany based in Bratislava (Slovakia) for €8,145,000.

Significant events occurring after 30 September 2018
On 27 September, the company branch of Edlo Energy 
S.p.A. for the sale of electricity and gas was acquired by the 
subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A.. This transaction is effecti-
ve as of 1 October 2018 (which is why it was not considered 
for the purposes of these financial statements) and allows 
Europe Energy S.p.A. to reach 59,089 withdrawal points in 
October. Its operating structure consisting of 20 employees 
was also obtained.
On 10 December 2018 a further 10% stake was acquired 
in Energia Gas & Power S.r.l. Romania, bringing the percen-
tage of control to 73%.
On 21 December 2018, the Board of Directors of Europe 
Energy S.p.A. also approved the company’s new business 
plan, which is revolutionary in some ways, outlining the 
Group’s entry into the world of telecommunications.

Legal situation
The Company’s legal situation is the same as in the previous 
semester.
Research and development
The Company pursues continuous research and develop-
ment in order to identify new projects in the energy industry 
and in particular, in the field of renewable energy sources. 
Another area in which much effort is being made is the 
study of volatility on energy markets and its repercussions 
on a transnational level. 
Finally, ICT tools developed in-house are daily the subject 
of research and development in order to improve their ef-
fectiveness.
However, in the period ended 30 September 2018, no use 
was made of the option to capitalise research and develop-
ment expenses, as required by IAS 38.

Treasury shares or shareholdings in subsidiaries, affiliates, 
parent companies and companies under their management
As at 30/09/2018, the Group does not hold treasury shares 
or other shares or stakes in parent companies. Neither has it 
held or negotiated shares in the year closing on 30/09/2018, 
or purchased any, either this year or in the next.
The Board, therefore, has nothing to report for the purposes 
of Article 2428 subsection 2 points 3 and 4 of the Italian 

Balance as of

30/09/2018

Balance as of

30/09/2017

Europe Energy S.p.A. (Milan, San Marti-

no B.A. (VR), Padova)

69 52

Europe Energy Sales Management S.r.l. 

(PD, MO, San Martino B.A. (Verona))

0 3

Energy Gas & Power S.r.l. (Romania) 33 0

Energy Gas & Power D.o.o. (Slovenia) 4 0

Total 106 55

With reference to the period reviewed, please note that:
- there were no injuries or deaths in the workplace 
for which the Group is directly responsible;
- there were no charges for occupational illnesses 
involving employees (including former ones) which construe 
direct responsibility for the Group;
- there were no cases of mobbing for which the 
Group has been declared responsible in a firm sentence.

Milan, 21 February 2019

The Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)
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Notes 30/09/2018 30/09/2017

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets 1 1.407.358 1.064.736

Land 581.988 290.788

Buildings 581.585 627.082

Plant and machinery 167.437 6.204

Vehicles 0 31.394

Other Buildings, Plant and Machinery 76.348 109.268

Intangible fixed assets 2 9.258.753 9.154.074

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights 21.800 50.862

Other 196.741 63.000

Goodwill 9.040.212 9.040.212

Financial assets 3 2.774.551 764.551

Investments 2.774.551 764.551

Deferred taxes 4 556.225 559.442

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13.996.887 11.542.803

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventory 5 2.108.301 1.611.332

Financial assets 6 1.202.383 9.798.238

Tax receivables 8 2.087.877 5.156.149

Accounts receivable 9 98.172.051 29.851.519

Cash and cash equivalents 10 5.777.158 4.960.797

Other assets 11 17.241.807 24.051.347

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 126.589.577 75.429.444

 

TOTAL ASSETS 140.586.464 86.972.247

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES STATEMENT 

segue >
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Notes 30/09/2018 30/09/2017

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

Other reserves 13.256.526 10.987.290

Profit (loss) carried forward -425 -425

Operating profit (loss) 2.759.492 2.581.047

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 17.924.323 15.476.644

Shareholders’ Equity and net profit (loss) for the period 
attributable to minority interests

-411.834 0

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 11 17.512.488 15.476.644

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial payables 12 635.628 639.779

Provision for risks and charges 13 35.966 20.894

Severance pay and other employee benefits 14 415.246 381.096

Deferred tax liabilities 15 32.019 93.452

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1.118.859 1.135.221

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current financial payables 16 21.958.224 30.367.402

Tax payables 17 2.276.527 654.262

Accounts payable 18 93.970.272 36.301.879

Other liabilities 19 3.750.093 3.036.777

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 121.955.116 70.360.320

TOTAL LIABILITIES 123.073.975 71.495.541

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 140.586.464 86.972.247

>

|   EUROPE ENERGY



41



42

Notes 30/09/2018 30/09/2017

REVENUES AND INCOME 454.522.182 295.347.916

Revenues from sales and services 20 453.433.563 294.026.231

Other revenues and income 21 1.088.619 1.321.685

OPERATING COSTS 450.296.090 291.161.190

Cost of raw materials, supplies, goods 22 435.960.661 279.195.131

Other operating costs 23 10.439.850 9.018.605

Personnel costs 24 3.895.579 2.947.454

GROSS OPERATING MARGIN 4.226.092 4.186.726

Amortisation, depreciation and other provisions  25 160.500 144.814

GROSS OPERATING MARGIN 4.065.592 4.041.912

Financial income 26 49.227 146.014

Financial expenses 27 -634.007 -513.425

NET FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES -584.780 -367.411

Income (expenses) from investments 28 0 88.492

Financial income (expenses) from Group companies 29 501.872 303.372

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 3.982.684 4.066.364

Fiscal Expenses / (Income) 30 1.561.111 1.485.317

NET PROFIT 2.421.573 2.581.047

OF WHICH (PROFIT) LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

337.919 0

PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 2.759.492 2.581.047

INCOME STATEMENT

(VALORI IN UNITÀ DI EURO)

|   EUROPE ENERGY
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TOTAL CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

30/09/2018 30/09/2017

NET PROFIT 2.759.492 2.581.047

Other components of comprehensive income:

A) CHANGES IN CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE 0 0

- Profit (loss) from asset items in period 0 0

- Taxes (+/-) 0 0

B) ACTUARIAL GAINS (LOSSES) -1.701 -16.234 

- Actuarial gains (losses) -1.701 -16.234

TOTAL OTHER COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
AFTER TAXES -1.701 -16.234

TOTAL NET INCOME 2.757.791 2.564.813 

Milan, 21 February 2019
The Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Matteo Ballarin)
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segue >

30/09/2018 30/09/2017

A. INITIAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 4.960.797 7.209.836

TOTAL A 4.960.797 7.209.836

B. OPERATING CASH-FLOW

Operating profit 2.759.492 2.581.047

Effect of change in exchange rate of consolidation area (723.646) 196.155

Depreciation 160.500 (144.814)

Net change in the provision for employee severance payments 34.150 157.582

Net variation in provision for credit impairment 829.014 754.715

Change in inventories (496.969) (957.561)

Accounts receivable (69.149.546) 12.384.078

Variation in tax receivables 3.068.271 1.547.536

Variation in deferred tax assets 3.217 (160.194)

Variation in financial assets 51.106 (450.850)

Variation in other assets 6.809.540 (11.528.732)

Variation in deferred tax liabilities (61.433) 32.024

Net variation in provision for risks and expenses 15.073 (247.729)

Variation in accounts payable 57.668.393 (8.489.090)

Variation in tax payables 1.622.264 462.351

Variation in other liabilities 713.316 1.049.563

TOTAL B 3.302.742 (2.965.848)

30/09/2018 30/09/2017

C. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS

(Investments) in intangible assets (134.729) (8.414.248)
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Milan, 21 February 2019
The Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Matteo Ballarin)

(Investments) / disinvestments in tangible assets (473.072) 12.110

(Investments) in purchase of equity investments (2.010.000) 0

Equity disinvestments 0 615.628

Divestment of financial assets held for sale 0 18.965

Disinvestments in financial assets included in working capital 0 26.947

TOTAL C (2.617.801) (7.740.598)

D. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financial receivables from associated companies 8.544.749 (7.482.251)

Non-current financial payables (4.151) 450.721

Current financial payables (8.409.178) 15.488.937

TOTAL D 131.420 8.457.407

E. NET CASH FLOW (B+C+D) 816.361 (2.249.039)

Cash and cash equivalents 5.777.158 4.960.797 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CLOSING BALANCE 5.777.158 4.960.797
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Form and content of the financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements that we submit for 
your approval, which comprise the Assets and Liabilities Sta-
tement, the Income Statement, the Comprehensive Income 
Statement, the Cash-Flow Statement, these Explanatory No-
tes and the Report of the Board, and which report a profit 
after taxes of €2,759,492 and a net equity as at 30 Septem-
ber 2018 of €17,924,323, has been drafted in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) based on the text published for the first time in the 
Official Journal of the European Union (G.U.C.E.).
The Group holds equity investments in Balkan companies 
operating in the retail market: ENERGIA G&P S.r.l. with its 
registered office in Bucharest (Romania) and the subsidiary 
Energia Vanzare S.r.l., ENERGIA G&P D.o.o. Ljubljana (Slo-
venia) and ENERGIA G&P D.o.o. with headquarters in Zagreb 
(Croatia).
Also, ENERGIA G&P D.o.o., a company based in Belgrade 
(Serbia) and also operating in the retail market, has just joi-
ned the group.
The Group is completed by the associated company LE Tra-
ding AS, also operating in the Balkans and having, in turn, a 
corporate branch in other countries in the area.
These financial statements have been drafted, for the third 
year running, in accordance with the international accoun-
ting standards, even though the parent company has con-
tinued to prepare the balance sheet by applying the Italian 
accounting standards.

Scope of consolidation
The companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments are listed below:

Parent company:
- EUROPE ENERGY HOLDING S.R.L. - registered office in 
Milan, Via Fratelli Gabba, 6.  
The Group’s business involves:
a) the trade and distribution of electricity, gas (inclu-
ding imports) and of any other energy carrier in any form, 
including electronically through the platforms of Italian and 
foreign stock exchanges, as well as the trade of green cer-
tificates, white certificates and CO2 emissions certificates 
(so-called “emission trading”).
b) the sale of derivative financial instruments for any 
type of energy carrier and/or product, though not as core bu-
siness, not for placement purposes and not towards the pu-
blic, with the exception of private savings collection reserved 
by law to banks and financial institutes;
c) the provision of post-meter/after-sales services on 
installed systems and technology-related, including for the 
purpose of increasing efficiency and rationalising energy con-
sumption, and including certification and the issue of “white 
certificates” and in any case, of all activities normally con-
ducted by an ESCO (energy saving company);
d) the provision of consulting services and technical 

assistance on:
1. energy issues and related pricing strategies, 
self-production, cogeneration, energy savings and recoveries;
2. studies on the trend of domestic and international 
markets of energy products;
3. management and corporate planning and pro-
duction related to the activities mentioned above;
e) the construction, operation and maintenance of 
electrical power plants and supply of electricity to public or 
private entities.
In the context of the above, the Company may also:
- design, build, manage and service electrical power 
plants;
- carry out feasibility studies;
- file requests for all necessary authorisations;
- develop and complete projects and install plants 
in the field of energy saving and power generation in all its 
forms, with a key focus on environmental protection and the 
use of renewable energy sources; organise staff training and 
refresher courses;
- provide services for the accounting and distribution 
of energy costs and the collection of the applicable taxes, 
both directly and on behalf of third parties;
f) the purchase, sale and management of real estate, 
including both direct and indirect construction and renova-
tion of its own property or owned by third parties, for civil, 
industrial, agricultural and retail use typically aimed at their 
sale, exchange and management, including through conces-
sions of various kinds to third parties;
g) the purchase, sale and management of land and 
farms, and their lease;
h) the conduction of all commercial, industrial, finan-
cial, real estate and securities transactions deemed neces-
sary or useful for the achievement of the corporate purpose, 
including the provision of collateral (real and personal gua-
rantees), also for the benefit of third parties;
i) the acquisition of stakes (including shares) and the 
purchase of shares from other companies, provided not as 
core business and in any case, in compliance with and within 
the limits of the applicable legislation, with the exclusion of 
credit supply, public savings collection and the sale of sha-
res, interests and stakes of any type of company to third par-
ties;
j) the direct execution of all those actions aimed at 
obtaining discounts or benefits of any sort granted by regional 
offices, the Italian Government and European Union to favour 
its production and lines of business, with the right to request 
and obtain administrative grants, sign any type of contract or 
agreement with any entity, public administration or private 
operator, mutual companies and agencies.

Scope of consolidation:
The companies included in the scope of consolidation are 
owned either directly by Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. or indi-
rectly through its subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A.
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Company
Date of incorpo-
ration / acquisi-

tion

% stake as at 
30/09/2018 Main line of business 

ENERGIA G&P SRL Romania (**) 24/08/2017 63%
Vendita di energia elettrica e gas 

naturale

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Slovenia (*) 18/12/2017 70%
Vendita di energia elettrica e gas 

naturale

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Croazia (**) 19/12/2017 50%
Vendita di energia elettrica e gas 

naturale

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Serbia (**) 28/09/2018 35%
Vendita di energia elettrica e gas 

naturale

Enegia Vanzare S.r.l.(****) 8/01/2018 70% Agenzia di vendita energia e gas

LE Trading AS (***) 22/03/2017 30% Trading EE

(*) Stakes held through the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A.
(**) Stakes not falling within the scope of consolidation.
(***) Stake held indirectly through the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A., not consolidated;
(****) Stake held indirectly by the subsidiary Energia G&P S.r.l.

The whole group has mainly aimed at developing its trading in electricity, gas and other energy carriers on the platforms of Italian 
and foreign stock exchanges, and the trade in green certificates, white certificates, CO2 emissions certificates (so-called “emission 
trading”) and related hedging financial instruments, as well as retail sales and the dispatching of electricity and gas to end users.

In order to prepare these consolidated financial statements, two “sub-consolidated” financial statements have been prepared for 
the “Europe Energy S.p.A. subgroup” and “Energia Gas & Power S.r.l. (Romania)” by carrying out the following consolidation 
activities:
- aggregation of the financial statements of the subsidiaries in Energia G&P S.r.l. and subsequently in Europe Energy S.p.A.;
- cancellation of shareholdings held by the Group in the subsidiaries referred to above;
- cancellation of the mutual economic and financial balances.
- Minority interests in shareholders’ equity and profit or loss for the period are shown separately in the balance sheet, income 
statement and statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary Energia G&P S.r.l. and its consolidated subsidiaries, being in a currency other than the 
euro, have been converted as described in the consolidation principles.

Secondly, these “sub-consolidated” financial statements were then incorporated with those of the Parent Company, carrying out 
the following adjustments:
- cancellation of mutual economic and financial relations between the parent company and the companies included in the scope 
of “sub-consolidation”;
- cancellation of “sub-consolidated” stake in Europe Energy S.p.A;

The effects of these adjustments are described in detail in the reconciliation statement of the Net Equity and operating profit, as 
resulting from the Parent Company and the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.
With regard to the criteria applied when preparing the financial statements of the subsidiaries and the financial position of the 
Parent Company, please refer to the above section of these Notes and to the paragraph on consolidation principles.

These Explanatory Notes are broken down into the following parts:
- part A: Principles of consolidation
- part B: Structure and content of the financial statements
- part C: Assessment principles
- part D: Accounting standards, amendments and newly published interpretations
- part E: Other information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
- part F: Information on Assets and Liabilities;
- part G: Information about the Income Statement
- part H: Risk management and other information
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Part A
Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is actually acquired by the Group.
The financial statements used for consolidation purposes are those of companies or consolidated companies in the sector appro-
ved by the competent corporate bodies of the respective companies, suitably modified, where necessary, to bring them into line 
with the Group’s accounting standards.
Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis; the assets and liabilities, income and expenses of consolidated companies 
are fully included in the consolidated financial statements. The carrying amount of the investments is eliminated against the 
corresponding percentage of shareholders’ equity of the investee companies, attributing to the individual items of assets and 
liabilities and potential assets to their current value at the date of acquisition of control.
Minority interests in shareholders’ equity and profit or loss for the period are shown separately in the balance sheet, income sta-
tement and statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
Reciprocal financial and economic items originating from relations between the fully consolidated companies were cancelled. 
Payables and receivables, expenses and income relating to transactions between companies included in the scope of consolida-
tion are eliminated. Profits resulting from transactions between these companies and relating to values still included in sharehol-
ders’ equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company are eliminated.
Investments in investee companies cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to non-controlling 
interests.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies directly controlled by the Group, as defined by IFRS 10 (consolidated financial statements). This 
control is based on the simultaneous presence of the following three elements: (a) power over the subsidiary; (b) exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from involvement with the given subsidiary; (c) ability to use the power to influence the amount of such 
variable returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated balance sheet from the date on which 
the Group assumes control until the time in which the subsidiary ceases to exist. The shares of net equity and the operating profit 
attributable to minority shareholders are reported separately in the assets and liabilities statement and in the income statement.

Affiliates
These are companies on which the Group has a significant influence, but not full or joint control, over their financial and operating 
policies, as defined in IAS 28 (Investments in affiliates).

Consolidation of foreign companies and criteria for converting items in foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign companies denominated in currencies other than the euro are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date; income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the 
year. The resulting translation differences are included in shareholders’ equity, particularly under “Other reserves”, until the sale 
of the investment. The difference between the result for the year, resulting from translation at average exchange rates, and that 
resulting from translation at year-end exchange rates, is entered in the Reserve for translation differences in shareholders’ equity.
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate in force on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabi-
lities are then translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. The exchange rate differences generated by the 
conversion and those realised at the time of the extinction of the transaction are recorded under financial income and expenses.

Part B 
Structure and content of the financial statements
General principles
The criteria generally applied when accounting for the assets and liabilities is the historical cost, except for certain financial 
instruments for which, for the purposes of standard IAS 39 (financial instruments), the criteria of Fair Value is applied. Please 
note that at the date of transition to the IAS/IFRS, some assets were calculated at their Fair Value instead of their historical cost.
Below is a description of the layouts used when drafting the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with those specified by 
standard IAS 1 and of the most significant accounting standards and assessment criteria applied.

Balance sheet layouts
The Income Statement is prepared using the layout for the classification of revenues and costs by type of item, highlighting the 
interim results relating to EBITDA, the operating profit and profit before taxes, so as to provide a more accurate representation of 
the Company’s normal trend of business. The layout chosen, in fact, is consistent with the Company’s internal reporting policy and 
business management, and with standard international practice in the energy industry.
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Aliquota 
Amm.to

  

 Impianti e macchinari  25%

 Macchine elettroniche d’ufficio 20%

 Mobili e arredi 15%

 Autovetture 25%

 Beni di valore inferiore ai 516,46 Euro 100%

The Statement of Comprehensive Income includes any chan-
ges of Other comprehensive profit (or loss) during the year, 
suspended in the net equity. 
The financial position was prepared using the layout that hi-
ghlights the allocation of assets and liabilities under “cur-
rent/non-current assets”. An asset/liability is classified as 
current when it meets one of the following criteria:
• the Company expects its accrual/expiry or to sell or 
use it in the normal business cycle, or;
• is held primarily for negotiating purposes, or;
• the Company expects its accrual/expiry within 12 
months from the balance sheet’s closing date.

In the absence of all three conditions, the given asset/liability 
is classified as a non-current asset/liability.
The Cash Flow statement has been prepared using the indi-
rect method.
The Statement of Changes in Equity shows the changes in 
net equity items that refer to:
• distribution of the operating profit;
• amounts referring to transactions with shareholders 
(purchase and sale of treasury shares);
• each item of profit and loss net of any fiscal effects 
which, as required by the IAS/IFRS, are alternately charged 
directly to Net Equity (actuarial gains and losses generated 
by the evaluation of fixed benefit plans) or that have their 
counterpart in an equity reserve (effect of transactions under 
common control), the impact of which is then reflected di-
rectly in the net equity;
• changes in revaluation reserves of derivative instru-
ments to hedge future cash flows, net of any fiscal effects;
• the effect caused by possible changes in the ac-
counting standards.
For each significant item listed in the above statements, we 
have included a reference to these Explanatory Notes, which 
provide the required information and a detailed description 
of the structure and changes compared to the previous year.

Part C
Assessment principles
Tangible assets
Tangible assets are booked at their cost of purchase, pro-
duction or contribution, and include any incidental and di-
rect costs necessary to make the asset available for use, and 
net of any contributions in kind.
Depreciation was calculated based on the possibility of using 
the assets to which it refers: this notion of depreciation tran-
slates into a percentage per year of the useful life of the as-
sets depreciated when drafting the balance sheet. The range 
of depreciation rates is shown in the table below:
The gains and losses on the sale and disposal of fixed assets 
are calculated as the difference between revenues from sales 
and the net book value of the asset, and are listed in the 

income statement for the given accounting period.
If there are indicators of impairment, tangible assets are 
subject to an impairment test. The test is described in the 
paragraph “Impairment of assets”. Impairment may be 
subject to subsequent reversal of impairment.
The financial leasing agreement signed for the building lo-
cated in San Martino Buon Albergo (VR) is reported in the 
balance sheet according to the financial method, as required 
by IAS 17, which provides for the purchase of the leased 
asset, debt financing and reporting of the financial expense 
in the income statement.

Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
In the case of corporate acquisitions, the assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities acquired and identifiable are mea-
sured at their Fair Value on the date of acquisition. The po-
sitive difference between the cost of purchase and the Com-
pany’s stake in the Fair Value of these assets and liabilities is 
classified as goodwill and is listed in the balance sheet as an 
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life.
Goodwill is not depreciated but is calculated annually, or 
more frequently if specific events or changed circumstances 
point to a likely loss of value, in order to identify any impair-
ment, in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of assets). For 
more information, please see the paragraph “Impairment of 
assets”.
The original value, however, is not restored if the reasons that 
led to the impairment no longer apply.
After its initial calculation, goodwill is measured at cost net 
of any accumulated impairment losses. At the time of tran-
sfer of a part or the entire company previously acquired and 
whose acquisition generated goodwill, in determining the 
gain or loss on disposal, the corresponding residual value of 
goodwill is taken into account. 
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Other intangible assets
Intangible assets with a fixed useful life purchased or manu-
factured entirely are listed under the assets, in accordance 
with IAS 38 (Intangible assets), when it is likely that their use 
will generate future economic benefits and their cost can be 
measured reliably. These assets are measured at their cost 
of purchase or production and depreciated on a straight-li-
ne basis over their estimated useful lives, which shall be re-
viewed at least once a year. Any changes in the depreciation 
criteria are applied prospectively. The period of depreciation 
of intangible assets listed in the Balance sheet varies from 3 
to 5 years. 
Intangible assets with fixed useful life are also audited to 
identify any impairment once a year, or whenever there is 
reason to believe that the asset may have suffered impair-
ment, in accordance with IAS 36. For more information, 
please refer to the paragraph “Impairment of assets”. If the 
reasons which had justified the impairment no longer apply 
in following years, the asset is restored to its original value, 
within the limits of the value that the asset would have had if 
the impairment had never taken place.
Other intangible assets booked in the balance sheet after the 
acquisition of a company are listed separately from goodwill, 
if their Fair Value can be measured reliably.

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
These rights consist of permanent software licenses whose 
depreciation is calculated over three years starting from the 
financial year in which the cost was incurred.

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
This item refers to the cost for the permanent license on the 
software used to manage the Company’s “core business” 
subject to depreciation according to a five-year plan starting 
from the year in which the license was purchased.

Financial assets
Investments
Investments in other companies that are classified as 
non-current financial assets not allocated to trading (so-cal-
led investments available for sale) are initially booked at their 
Fair Value, and gains and losses arising from changes in Fair 
Value are booked directly under equity as long as they are 
sold or have suffered a loss of value. At the date, gains or 
losses previously booked under net equity are listed in the 
income statement for the accounting period.
Investments in other smaller companies for which there is no 
Fair Value are booked in the Income Statement at their cost 
inclusive of any impairment losses.

Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, if the conditions apply, the Group 
reviews the carrying value of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered impairment (so-called “Impairment test”), in 
accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of assets). 
The impairment test helps estimate the recoverable amount 
of these assets to calculate any amount of impairment. When 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an as-
set individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the so-called “CGU-Cash Generating Unit” to which the 
asset belongs.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the Fair Value less 
the costs of sale and the value in use of the asset or CGU. 
The value in use of an asset or a CGU is the current value of 
the expected cash flows calculated by applying a discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. Future cash flows 
refer to those expected over a given time span between three 
and five years, as well as those taken from the last year of the 
time span used to estimate the final value. 
The long-term growth rate used for the purpose of estimating 
the final value of the cash-generating unit is taken to an ex-
tent not exceeding the average rate of long-term growth in the 
industry, country or market where the asset or the cash-gene-
rating unit operates.
The value in use of the asset or CGU in a foreign currency is 
estimated by discounting these flows on the basis of an ap-
propriate exchange rate for that currency. The current value 
thus obtained is translated into Euros on the basis of the spot 
rate at the reporting date of the calculated impairment.
Future cash flows are estimated with reference to the current 
conditions of the cash-generating unit and as such, neither 
the benefits of future restructuring plans for which the entity 
still does not have a commitment nor future investments for 
improvement or optimisation of the unit are factored in the 
calculation.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated 
to be less than its carrying amount, the latter is reduced to a 
lower recoverable amount. An impairment loss is booked in 
the income statement immediately. 
When an impairment no longer has reason to be maintained, 
the carrying amount of the asset or CGU, with the exception 
of goodwill, is increased to the new value obtained from the 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but is never higher than 
the net book value that the asset or CGU would have had if 
it the write-down for impairment had not been applied. The 
restored value is charged to the income statement, unless 
the asset is valued at the adjusted amount, in which case the 
reversal is ascribed to the revaluation reserve.

Inventory
Inventories are booked at their specific cost of purchase or 
the presumable value of realisation, depending on the market 
trend, whichever is lesser.
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Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any agreement that generates a fi-
nancial asset for a company and a financial liability or equity 
instrument for another company.

Financial assets
A financial asset is any asset representative of the following:
• cash and cash equivalents;
• a contractual right to receive cash or another type 
of financial asset from another entity;
• a contractual right to exchange financial instrumen-
ts with another entity under potentially favourable conditions; 
• an instrument representative of the net equity of 
another company;
• a contract (including hedges) that is or can be adju-
sted with the company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities and net equity
A financial liability is any liability that is representative of a 
contractual obligation to:
• pay cash or another financial asset to another com-
pany;
• exchange financial instruments with another entity 
under potentially favourable conditions;
• a contract (including hedges) that is or can be adju-
sted with the company’s own equity instruments.
An equity instrument is a contract that represents a share of 
residual interest in the assets of a company after deduction 
of its liabilities. These include, for example, shares or rights 
to purchase or subscribe shares of the company.

Financial assets and financial liabilities booked at their Fair 
Value when the contractual rights and obligations provided 
for by the instrument accrue.
Their initial reporting takes into account the transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition and the issuing costs 
that are included in the initial assessment of all assets and 
liabilities defined as financial instruments. Subsequent eva-
luation depends on the type of instrument. More specifically:
• assets held for trading, excluding derivative instru-
ments, are listed at their Fair Value with any changes in Fair 
Value accounted for in the Income statement. This category 
mainly comprises trading shares and so-called trading activi-
ties discussed below;
• other financial assets and financial liabilities other 
than derivatives and investments with fixed or quantifiable 
payments are listed at their depreciated cost. Any transaction 
fees incurred during acquisition/sale are factored as direct 
nominal value adjustment of the given asset/liability. Finan-
cial income/expenses are then recalculated applying the 
actual interest rate method. This category includes non-cur-
rent loans and receivables, trade receivables and other recei-
vables generated by the Company, financial payables, trade 

payables and other payables, and other financial liabilities;
• assets available for sale are listed at their Fair Value 
and the gains and losses they generate are accounted for 
under net equity, more specifically under “Other comprehen-
sive income items”. The Fair Value is booked in the income 
statement on the actual date of sale. The impairment losses 
in Fair Value are listed directly in the income statement whe-
never there is objective evidence that a financial asset has 
suffered impairment, even if the asset has not been sold yet. 
Unlisted equity investments for which the Fair Value is not 
readily quantifiable instead are listed at the reduced cost due 
to long-term impairment.

All derivative financial instruments are listed at their Fair Va-
lue, as established by the aforementioned standard IAS 39.
The assessment principles applied by the Group for the pur-
pose of measuring Fair Value refer as much as possible on 
the “market” data and, on the other hand, rely as little as 
possible on specific inputs within the Group. In fact, to cal-
culate the Fair Value of these contracts, the Company uses 
the settlement price of the stock exchanges (IDEX for Italy 
and EEX for France and Germany). 
For hedges consisting of “over the counter” contracts, whi-
ch are not listed on active markets, and therefore deprive 
the Group of an official and consistent stock exchange li-
sting, the Group uses as its reference value the prices for 
each product type of the last significant amount negotiated 
as at 30/09/2017 (“last trade”) by the main Italian market 
operating broker, i.e. Tradition Financial Services Ltd. The 
Fair Value for these instruments was therefore calculated as 
the difference between the contract price and the price of 
the “last trade”.

The Group eliminates a financial asset from the balance she-
et when it transfers the contractual right to receive cash flows 
relating to the same or when the right itself expires. When a 
financial asset is transferred, the level to which the risks and 
benefits that are inherent with owning the financial asset are 
transferred needs to be assessed. More specifically:
• If the Company substantially transfers all the risks 
and benefits of ownership of the financial asset, it eliminates 
the asset sold and separately factors any rights and obliga-
tions created or maintained as a result of the transfer;
• If the Company substantially retains all the risks 
and benefits of ownership of the financial asset, it continues 
to account for the asset.
Financial liabilities are removed from the assets and liabili-
ties statement when the specific contractual obligation has 
expired. A contractual right expires also when changes are 
made to existing contractual terms, if the new terms have si-
gnificantly changed the original terms and, at any rate, when 
the current value of the cash flows that the amended agree-
ments will generate is more than 10% higher than the value 
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of the discounted cash flows of the original liability.
The Fair Value of financial instruments traded on an active 
market is based on the market prices at the balance sheet 
date. The Fair Value of instruments not traded on an active 
market is calculated by applying the appropriate evaluation 
methods.

Accounting standard IFRS 7 (financial instruments: disclo-
sures) requires a description of the goals, policies and pro-
cedures applied by the Group for the different types of finan-
cial risks (liquidity, market and credit) to which the Group 
is exposed, including a sensitivity analysis for each type of 
market risk (foreign currency exchange, interest rate, equi-
ty, commodity) and information regarding the minimum and 
maximum concentration and average exposures to various 
types of risk during the accounting period, if the exposure at 
the end of the period is not sufficiently representative.
Accounting standard IAS 1 regulates, among other things, 
the obligation to provide information about the goals, policies 
and processes for managing capital, specifying, if capital re-
quirements are imposed by third parties, the nature and the 
methods of management and any consequences of failure to 
comply with them. For the qualitative and quantitative analy-
sis, please refer to the section “Information about financial 
risks” and the information contained in the Report of the 
Board.

Employee benefits
Severance pay and pensions are calculated by applying an 
actuarial method. The amount of rights over the accounting 
period by employees is listed in the income statement un-
der the item personnel costs, while the figurative financial 
burden that the Company would incur if it were to request 
a loan for the same amount of the severance pay is listed 
under the net financial income (expenses). Actuarial gains 
and losses that reflect the effects of changes in the actuarial 
assumptions applied are listed under the statement of com-
prehensive income, taking into account the average number 
of years that employees are expected to continue working for 
the Company.
Specifically, pursuant to Budget Law No. 296 of 27 Decem-
ber 2006, only the liability for accrued employee severance 
payments that remained with the Company was valued for 
IAS 19 purposes, since the accrued portion was paid to a 
separate entity (supplementary pension fund or INPS funds). 
As a result of these payments, the Company will no longer 
have obligations for work performed by employees in the fu-
ture (so-called defined contribution plan).

Provisions for risks and charges
The Group factors risks and charges whenever it has an obli-
gation, legal or implicit, for a past event, when it is probable 
that a use of resources will be required to fulfil the obligation, 
and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 

the obligation. This obligation can be legal, contractual or 
derive from the Company’s conduct statements such to lead 
the third parties to reasonably expect that the Company is 
responsible or assumes responsibility to fulfil an obligation 
(so-called “implicit obligations”).
Changes in estimates are reflected in the income statement 
in the period in which the change occurred.
Provisions, if the financial effect of time is significant, are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment 
of the cost of borrowing in relation to the time and the effect 
of discounting is listed under borrowing costs.

Recognition of costs and revenues
Revenues and income, costs and expenses are entered net 
of returns, discounts, rebates and premiums, as well as taxes 
directly associated with the sale of products and the provi-
sion of services. 
Revenues from sales are accounted for when the significant 
risks and benefits of owning the assets are transferred to the 
buyer (moment that generally coincides with the shipment 
of the goods).
Financial income and expenses are listed on an accruals ba-
sis using the amount financed and the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that discounts the estimated 
future cash receipts/payments over the expected life of the 
financial asset/liability to restore them to the book value of 
the given asset.
Dividends are accounted for when the right to receive a pay-
ment from shareholders that is normally processed during 
the year in which the shareholders of the subsidiary meet to 
decide on the distribution of profits or reserves.

Taxes and levies
Income taxes for the year consist of the sum of current and 
deferred taxes:
• current taxes are based on the taxable operating 
profit in the accounting period. Taxable income may differ 
from the operating profit reported in the income statement 
due to the positive and negative items that will be taxable 
or deductible in other accounting periods and also excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The liability for 
current taxes is calculated using the rates applicable on the 
closing date of the balance sheet;
• prepaid and deferred taxes are taxes that the Com-
pany expects to pay or to recover on the temporary differen-
ces between the book value of the assets and liabilities and 
the corresponding tax base used to calculate the taxable in-
come determined by applying the tax rates in force at the 
time when the temporary differences will accrue or expire.
In addition, deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary 
differences arising between the tax base of an asset or a lia-
bility and the book value that appears in the balance sheet, 
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with the exception of goodwill, which is not deductible, and 
those differences arising from investments in subsidiaries for 
which cancellation is not expected in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets are listed to the extent that it is consi-
dered likely that there will be future taxable tax results that 
allow the use of deductible temporary differences.
The book value of deferred tax assets is reviewed on the clo-
sing dare of every balance sheet and reduced to the extent 
that the achievement of sufficient taxable income to allow 
all or part of the recovery of such assets is deemed unlikely.
Deferred taxes are booked directly in the income statement, 
except for those relating to items booked directly under com-
prehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also 
booked under other comprehensive income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabi-
lities and when they refer to taxes owed to the same taxation 
authority and the Company intends to liquidate the current 
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Part D
Accounting standards, amendments and newly published 
interpretations

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND IFRS IN-
TERPRETATIONS APPLIED AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
The following IFRS accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations were applied for the first time by the Group as 
from 1 October 2017: 
• Amendment to IAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative” (publi-
shed on 29 January 2016). The document is meant to pro-
vide certain clarifications in order to improve the information 
on financial liabilities. More specifically, the changes require 
Companies/Groups to provide information that enables users 
of the financial statements to understand changes in liabi-
lities arising from financing operations. The introduction of 
the new amendment did not have any effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.
• Amendment to IAS 12 “Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses” (published 19 January 
2016).  The purpose of this document is to provide some 
clarifications on the recognition of deferred tax assets on 
unrealised losses on the valuation of financial assets in the 
“Available for Sale” category upon the occurrence of certain 
circumstances and on the estimate of taxable income for fu-
ture years. The adoption of these amendments had no effect 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, AMENDMENTS AND INTER-
PRETATIONS OF IFRS AND IFRICS ENDORSED BY THE 
EUROPEAN UNION, NOT YET MANDATORILY APPLI-
CABLE AND NOT ADOPTED AS OF 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
Standard IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

(published on 28 May 2014 and supplemented with fur-
ther clarifications published on 12 April 2016) will replace 
IAS 18 – Revenue and IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, as 
well as the interpretations of IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction 
of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from Custo-
mers and SIC 31 – Revenues-Barter Transactions Involving 
Advertising Services. The standard establishes a new model 
for accounting revenues that will apply to all contracts con-
cluded with customers except those that fall within the sco-
pe of other IAS/IFRS such as lease agreements, insurance 
contracts and financial instruments. The basic steps for the 
accounting of revenues according to the new model are:
o identification of the contract with the customer;
o identification of the contract’s performance obliga-
tions;
o pricing;
o allocation of the price of the contract’s performance 
obligations;
o criteria for inclusion of revenue when the entity sa-
tisfies each performance obligation.
The standard applies to financial statements starting on or 
after 1 January 2018. The amendments to IFRS 15, Clarifi-
cations to IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
were endorsed by the European Union on 6 November 2017. 
On the basis of the analyses carried out, the directors expect 
that the application of IFRS 15 will not have a significant im-
pact on the amounts recorded as revenues and on the related 
information reported in the company’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Final version of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (published 
on 24 July 2014). The document includes the results of the 
IASB’s project to replace IAS 39:
o introduces new criteria for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities (together with 
the measurement of non-substantial changes in financial lia-
bilities);
o With reference to the impairment model, the new 
standard requires that the estimate of losses on receivables 
be made on the basis of the expected losses model (and not 
on the incurred losses model used by IAS 39) using sup-
portable information, available without unreasonable costs or 
efforts that include historical, current and prospective data;
o introduces a new model of hedge accounting (in-
crease in the types of transactions eligible for hedge ac-
counting, change in the method of accounting for  forward 
contracts and options when included in a hedge accounting 
report, changes to the effectiveness test). 
The new standard must be applied to financial statements 
starting on or after 1 January 2018.
The directors do not expect a significant effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements from the adoption of these 
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amendments.

Amendment to IFRS 9 “Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation” (published 12 October 2017). This docu-
ment specifies that early repayment instruments may comply 
with the SPPI test even if the reasonable additional compen-
sation to be paid in the event of early repayment is a negati-
ve compensation for the lender. The amendment applies to 
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2019, 
but early application is permitted. The directors are evalua-
ting the impact and application of IFRS 9 on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 - Leases (published ON 13 January 2016), which 
will replace IAS 17 - Leases and the interpretations of IFRIC 
4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, 
SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease. 
The new standard provides a new definition of lease and in-
troduces a criteria based on the control (right of use) of an 
asset for distinguishing lease agreements from service agre-
ements, identifying the following discriminating factors: the 
identification of the right, the right to replacement thereof, 
the right to substantially receive all of the economic benefits 
arising from the use of the asset, and the right of direct use 
of the asset covered by the agreement.
The standard establishes a single model for the accounting 
and evaluation of lease agreements for the tenant (lessee) 
that provides for the inclusion of the asset covered by the 
operating lease under assets with a financial debt as offset 
account, while also providing the option of not considering 
agreements for “low-value assets” and leases with a term 
of or less than 12 months as lease agreements. Instead, the 
Standard does not introduce significant changes for lan-
dlords (lessors).
The standard applies to financial statements starting on or 
after 1 January 2019, but early application is permitted only 
for companies that have already applied IFRS 15 - Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.
The directors are evaluating the impacts deriving from the 
application of IFRS 16.

Amendment to IFRS 2 “Classification and measurement of 
share-based payment transactions” (published on 20 June 
2016), which contains some clarifications in relation to the 
accounting of the effects of vesting conditions in the presen-
ce of cash-settled share-based payments, the classification 
of share-based payments with net settlement characteristics 
and the accounting of changes to the terms and conditions 
of a share-based payment that change its classification from 
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments apply to fi-
nancial statements starting on or after 1 January 2018. The 

directors do not expect a significant effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements from the adoption of these 
amendments.

Document “Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 
Cycle”, published on 8 December 2016 (including IFRS 
1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards - Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time 
adopters, IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventu-
res - Measuring investees at fair value through profit or loss: 
an investment-by-investment choice or a consistent policy 
choice, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - 
Clarification of the scope of the Standard) which partially 
integrates pre-existing standards. Most of the amendments 
apply to financial statements starting on or after 1 January 
2018. The directors do not expect a significant effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements from the adoption 
of these amendments. 

IFRIC 22  Interpretation “Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration” (published on 8 December 2016). 
The purpose of this interpretation is to provide guidelines for 
transactions carried out in foreign currencies where non-mo-
netary advances or payments on account are recognised in 
the financial statements, prior to the recognition of the rela-
ted asset, cost or revenue. This document provides guidance 
on how an entity should determine the date of a transaction, 
and consequently, the spot exchange rate to be used when 
foreign currency transactions occur in which payment is 
made or received in advance IFRIC 22 is applicable to finan-
cial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The 
directors do not expect a significant effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements from the adoption of these 
amendments. 

Amendment to IAS 40 “Transfers of Investment Property” 
(published on 8 December 2016). These changes clari-
fy transfers of a property to, or from, investment property. 
In particular, an entity shall reclassify property as or from 
investment property only when there is evidence that there 
has been a change in use of the property. This change must 
be related to a specific event that has occurred and must 
not be limited to a change of intention on the part of the 
management of an entity. These amendments shall apply to 
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
The directors do not expect a significant effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements from the adoption of these 
amendments. 

IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE EURO-
PEAN UNION
On the closing date of these financial statements, the com-
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petent bodies of the European Union had not yet approved 
application of the amendments and accounting standards 
described below.

On 18 May 2017, the IASB published IFRS 17 - Insurance 
Contracts, which is intended to replace IFRS 4 - Insurance 
Contracts.
The objective of the new standard is to ensure that an entity 
provides relevant information that faithfully represents the 
rights and obligations arising from issued insurance contracts 
The IASB has developed the standard to eliminate inconsi-
stencies and weaknesses in existing accounting policies, pro-
viding a single principle-based framework to take account of 
all types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance con-
tracts that an insurer holds The standard applies to financial 
statements beginning on or after 1 January 2021 but early 
application is permitted only for entities that apply IFRS 9 
- Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 - Revenue from Con-
tracts with Customers. The directors do not expect a signifi-
cant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
from the adoption of this standard.

On 7 June 2017, the IASB published the interpretative do-
cument IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. 
The document addresses the issue of uncertainties about the 
tax treatment of income taxes.
The document requires that uncertainties in the determina-
tion of tax liabilities or assets be reflected in the financial 
statements only when it is probable that the entity will pay 
or recover the amount in question. In addition, the document 
does not contain any new disclosure requirements but under-
lines that the entity will have to determine whether it will be 
necessary to provide information on the considerations made 
by management and relating to the uncertainty inherent in 
the accounting for taxes, in accordance with the provisions 
of IAS 1.
The new interpretation applies to financial statements be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2019, but early application is 
permitted. The directors do not expect a significant effect 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements from the 
adoption of this interpretation. 

Amendment to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures” (published on 12 October 2017). This 
document clarifies the need to apply IFRS 9, including im-
pairment requirements, to other long-term interests in as-
sociates and joint ventures for which the equity method is 
not applied. The amendment applies to financial statements 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but early application 
is permitted. The directors do not expect a significant effect 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements from the 
adoption of these amendments. 

Document “Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 
Cycle”, published on 12 December 2017 (including IFRS 
3“Business Combinations” and IFRS 11“Joint Arrangemen-
ts” - Remeasurement of previously held interest in a joint 
operation, IAS 12 Income Taxes - Income tax consequences 
of payments on financial instruments classified as equity, 
IAS 23 Borrowing costs Disclosure of Interests in Other En-
tities - Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation) which im-
plements the amendments to certain standards as part of the 
annual process of improving them. The amendments apply 
to the financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 
2019, but early application is permitted. The directors do 
not expect a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements from the adoption of these amendments. 

Amendment to IAS 19 “Plant Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement” (published on 7 February 2018). The docu-
ment clarifies how an entity should recognise a change (i.e. 
a curtailment or settlement) in a defined benefit plan. The 
amendments require the entity to update its assumptions 
and remeasure the net liability or asset arising from the plan. 
The amendments clarify that after the occurrence of such 
an event, an entity uses updated assumptions to measure 
the current service cost and interest for the remainder of the 
reporting period following the event.  The amendments apply 
to the financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 
2019, but early application is permitted.  The directors do 
not expect a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements from the adoption of these amendments. 

Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sales or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Ventu-
re” (published on 11 September 2014). The document was 
published in order to resolve the current conflict between IAS 
28 and IFRS 10 relating to the valuation of the profit or loss 
resulting from the sale or contribution of a non-monetary as-
set to a joint venture or associate in exchange for an interest 
in the latter’s capital. At present, the IASB has suspended 
the application of this amendment.
IFRS 14 - Regulatory Deferral Accounts (published on 30 
January 2014), which allows only those who adopt IFRS for 
the first time to continue to recognise amounts relating to as-
sets subject to regulated rates (“Rate Regulation Activities”) 
according to the previous accounting standards adopted. Sin-
ce the Group is not a first-time adopter, this principle is not 
applicable.



58 |   EUROPE ENERGY

Part E
Other information relevant to the preparation of the finan-
cial statements
Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements re-
quires that the Directors make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, costs, assets 
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities on the closing date of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
The estimates and assumptions are based on experience 
and other factors thought to be relevant. The actual results 
that appear in the balances therefore may differ from those 
estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed from 
time to time and the effects of every variation are reflected 
in the income statement in the period in which the estimate 
is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or even in 
subsequent periods if the revision affects both the current 
year and future results.
Below is a summary of the critical evaluation processes ap-
plied by the Group in the process of applying the accounting 
standards insofar as concerns future events that are likely to 
have significant effects on the values reported in the conso-
lidated financial statements or that can lead to significant 
value adjustments to the book value of the assets and liabili-
ties in the year following the accounting period of the balance 
sheet.

Credit impairment fund
This item reflects the Group’s estimate of the losses on the 
portfolio of loans to customers. 
Provisions are made against expected losses on receivables, 
estimated on the basis of past experience with regard to re-
ceivables with similar credit risk and the careful monitoring 
of the quality of the loan portfolio.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed from time to 
time and the effects of any changes are reflected in the inco-
me statement in the period concerned.

Recoverability of tangible and intangible assets 
Tangible and intangible assets are depreciated when events 
or changes in circumstances imply that their book value is 
not recoverable.
The type of events that can result in a write-down of assets 
include: change in business plans, changes in market prices 
and currency exchange rates that may result in lower opera-
ting performance, reduced plant use, changes, updates of 
the pharmaceutical regulatory framework, and changes in the 
cash-flow discount rates.
The decision whether to depreciate an asset and its quantifi-
cation depend on highly uncertain assessments of the Direc-
tors of complex factors, including the future trend of prices 
and currency exchange rates, the impact of inflation and 

technological advances on production factors, production 
profiles and conditions of supply and demand on a global, 
national and regional level.
Depreciation is calculated by comparing the book value in 
the balance sheet for the asset or cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs, with its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of the Fair Value net of disposal costs, and the va-
lue in use calculated by discounting the expected cash flows 
resulting from the use of the asset or cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs, net of disposal costs. Expected 
cash flows are calculated in light of the information available 
at the time of the estimate and based on subjective judge-
ments on the performance of future variables such as price, 
cost, demand growth rates and production profiles, and are 
discounted applying a rate after taxes that takes into account 
the risk inherent in the asset concerned.

The loss in the value of an asset is restored when there is 
reason to believe that its value has reduced or the asset no 
longer exists, or when there has been a change in the estima-
tes used to calculate the recoverable amount.

Recoverability of deferred taxes 
As of 30 September 2018, the consolidated financial sta-
tements presents deferred tax assets that are related to the 
impact of temporary differences between the statutory values 
and their values booked for fiscal purposes, which can be 
used in subsequent years within the limits of the Group’s 
ability to generate taxable profits.
The assessment takes into account the recoverability of the 
above estimate of future taxable profits.

Pension plans
Severance pay can be classified as a defined benefit plan.
The Group applies different statistical assumptions and 
evaluation factors with the aim of anticipating future even-
ts for calculating charges, liabilities and assets relating to 
these plans. The assumptions concern the discount rate, the 
expected return on plan assets, and the rates of future salary 
increases. In addition, the Group’s actuarial consultants ap-
ply subjective factors, such as the relative rates of mortality 
and turnover.

Other balance sheet items
In addition to the items mentioned above, estimates were 
made:
• when calculating the useful life of tangible and in-
tangible assets for the purpose of calculating depreciation;
• the unrealised profit/loss (Fair Value) of financial 
derivatives.

Risk management
With regard to the information required by Article 2428, sub-
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section 2, number 6-bis of the Italian Civil Code, which calls for a description of the goals, policies and risks involved in financial 
risk management, please refer to the following paragraph “Information on financial risks”, which includes a detailed description, 
and to the Report of the Board.
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ASSETS

Notes Period
current year

Period
period

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets 1 1.407.358 1.064.736

Land 581.988 290.788

Buildings 581.585 627.082

Plant and machinery 167.437 6.204

Vehicles 0 31.394

Other Buildings, Plant and Machinery 76.348 109.268

Intangible fixed assets 2 9.258.753 9.154.074

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights 21.800 50.862

Other 196.741 63.000

Goodwill 9.040.212 9.040.212

Financial assets 3 2.774.551 764.551

Investments 2.774.551 764.551

Deferred taxes 4 556.225 559.442

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13.996.887 11.542.803

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Inventory 5 2.108.301 1.611.332

Financial assets 6 1.202.383 9.798.238

Tax receivables 7 2.087.877 5.156.149

Accounts receivable 8 98.172.051 29.851.519

Cash and cash equivalents 9 5.777.158 4.960.797

Other assets 10 17.241.807 24.051.347

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 126.589.577 75.429.444

TOTAL ASSETS 140.586.464 86.972.247

Part F
Information on Assets and Liabilities
All items are listed in units of EUR.
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Tangible assets: breakdown by principle of evaluation

Current Period Previous Period

Land 581.988 290.788

Buildings 581.585 627.082

Plant and machinery 167.437 6.204

Vehicles 0 31.394

Other Buildings, Plant and Machinery 76.348 109.264

Total 1.407.358 1.064.736

Buildings, plant and equipment for functional use: variations

Land Buildings Plant and machi-
nery

A. Starting balance 290.788 627.082 6.204

B. Increases 291.800 0 107.052

B.1 Purchases 291.800 0 0

B.2 Net acquisitions from consolidation 0 0 107.052

C. Decreases 0 -49.320 -54.181

C.1 Consolidated sales and output 0 -13.544 0

C.2 Depreciation 0 -32.953 -54.181

D. Final inventories 581.988 581.585 167.437

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1.TANGIBLE ASSETS
The item buildings, plant and machinery amounted to €1,407,358 (€1,064,734 in the previous year) and are valued at their 
cost of purchase.
The item’s structure, the changes in value during the year and other relevant information is provided and commented below.
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Vehicles Other Total

A. Starting balance 31.394 109.264 1.064.736

B. Increases 0 10.262 409.114

B.1 Purchases 0 10.262 302.062

B.2 Acquisitions from consolidation 0 0 107.052

C. Decreases -31.394 -43.181 -178.076

C. 1 Sales or consolidated outputs -31.394 0 -44.938

C.2 Depreciation 0 -43.181 -130.315

D. Closing balance 0 76.348 1.407.358

The tangible assets listed above have a fixed useful life and are therefore subject to depreciation (note: there are no accumu-
lated losses in value to report).
The item “Land and Buildings” consists mainly of:
-  property, acquired through a leasing contract entered into in 2014 and redeemed on 1 April 2018 and used as the operating 
headquarters of the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. in San Martino Buon Albergo (VR), whose value is equal to €140,000 for 
the land and €560,000 for the building with its related accumulated depreciation which is equal to €92,400;
- €291,200 for the purchase of land where the new headquarters of the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. will be located;
- Net acquisitions from companies that entered the consolidation during the year, amounting to €107,052, which mainly refer 
to electronic machines.

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets amounted to €9,258,753 (€9,154,074 in the previous year).
The item’s structure, the changes in value during the year and other relevant information is provided and commented below.

Intangible assets: breakdown by principle of evaluation

Current Period Previous Period

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights 21.800 50.862

Other 196.741 63.000

Goodwill 9.040.212 9.040.212

Total 9.258.753 9.154.074
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Intangible assets: variations

Patents, Trade-
marks and Other 

Rights
Goodwill Other Total value

A. Starting balance 50.862 9.040.212 63.000 9.154.074 

B. Increases 0 0 197.729 197.729

B.1 Purchases 0 0 4.940 4.940

B.2 Acquisitions from consolidation 0 0 192.789 192.789

C. Decreases -29.062 0 -63.988 -93.050

C.1 Sales 0 0 -63.000 -63.000

C.2 Depreciation -29.062 0 -988 -30.050

D. Closing balance 21.800 9.040.212 196.741 9.258.753 

The goodwill recorded in the financial statements, for a total of €9,040,212, is made up of €667,095 for the exchange deficit 
generated following the merger by incorporation of Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. into Europe Energy S.p.A. (so-called reverse 
merger), the accounting and tax effects of which began on 1 April 2014.
The remaining amount of €8,373,117 refers to the goodwill incorporated through the merger of the subsidiary Europe Energy 
Gas & Power S.p.A. which, as a result of the acquisition of the business unit, on 8 June 2017 from the notary public Gottardo 
in Padua. Europe Energy Gas & Power S.p.A. made the final purchase from the bankruptcy procedure of Gascom S.r.l. in Liqui-
dation of the company operating in the sale of electricity and natural gas to end customers previously leased by the company. 
The purchase price allocation (PPA) activity was originally carried out on this goodwill and the difference between the purchase 
price and the value of the acquired company was allocated to goodwill, in the absence of other significant assets connected 
with the acquisition.

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights: these refer to costs for the purchase and development of the website, Energy Trading 
Risk Management software, CRM and billing software licenses and licences for the use of general ledger software.

Other: Last year, there was a reclassification of the equity investment in ECG Energy S.r.l. (Romania) (now Energia Gas & Power 
S.r.l. included in the consolidation process) given that it could not be consolidated as it was a newly formed start-up.
The increases for the year derive from net acquisitions from companies that entered the consolidation during the year, amoun-
ting to €192,789, and mainly refer to software licences for company operations.

Recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill
During the accounting period there were no indicators of impairment loss with regard to intangible assets and goodwill.
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Value as of 
30/09/2018

Value as of 
30/09/2017

Share of 
equity % Main headquarters

LE Trading AS 764.551 764.551 30% Slovacchia – Bratislava

Energia Gas & Power Doo (Ser-
bia)

2.000.000 0 35% Serbia - Belgrado

Energia Gas & Power Doo (Cro-
atia)

10.000 0 50% Croazia - Zagabria

Total 2.774.551 764.551

Equity investments in affiliates: transactions 

Group investments

A. Starting balance 764.551

B. Increases 2.010.000 

B.1 Purchases 2.010.000

C. Decreases 0

C.1 Sales 0

C.2 Total variations 0

D. Closing balance 2.774.551 

3.Financial assets

Investments in affiliates
Investments in affiliates amounted to €2,774,551 (€764,551 in the previous year).
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Prepaid tax assets: detailed breakdown for current year and previous year

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

Total offsetting 
item in Income 

Statement - 
Current year

Total current 
period

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

-6.231 0 -6.231 5.469

Amortisation of IAS intangible assets -4.876 0 -4.876 6.139

Losses from previous year carried 
forward

-46.871 0 -46.871 0

Securities impairment 0 0 0 268.153

Lease agreements -62.699 0 -62.699 0

Taxed credit impairment 120.000 0 120.000 264.000

Provisions for risks 0 0 0 0

Other prepaid taxes -2.540 0 -2.540 12.464

Total -3.217 0 -3.217 556.225

LE Trading AS, a company incorporated under Slovak law, 
with a value of €764,551, is an associated company as it 
is 30% owned.
The other two companies were acquired during the year, re-
spectively on 28 September 2018 and 18 December 2017, 
are in the start-up phase and have been recorded at cost 
as the valuation report in our possession shows that the 
book value is consistent with the value paid at the time of 
acquisition.

4.Deferred taxes
Prepaid tax receivables listed in the financial statements 
for a total of €556,225 (€559,442 in the previous finan-
cial statements) and were represented by the receivable for 
deferred IRES (Corporate Income Tax) allocated for certain 
categories of expense incurred over the year, but whose fi-
scal recognition is deferred to future years, when the con-
ditions established by tax legislation apply to the individual 
case. For more information about this balance sheet item’s 
structure, please refer to the detailed commentary to the 
item “Tax income/(expenses)” provided further on in these 
Notes.
We also ought to point out that deferred tax assets are ac-
counted for only if the management believes it is reasonably 
certain that in subsequent accounting periods, the Com-
pany will be able to generate taxable income adjusted to full 
recovery of the credits listed in the balance sheet.
The breakdown of deferred tax assets and the nature of the 
items and the temporary differences from which they emer-
ge is provided below.
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IRES - 
Offsetting item 

in Income 
Statement - 
Previous year

IRAP - 
Offsetting item 

in Income 
Statement - 
Previous year

Total offsetting 
item in Income 

Statement - 
Previous year

Total previous 
period

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

4.625 0 4.625 11.700

Amortisation of IAS intangible assets -4.964 -399 -5.363 11.015

Losses from previous year carried 
forward

-3.870 0 -3.870 46.871

Securities impairment 6.467 0 6.467 268.153

Lease agreements 0 0 0 62.699

Taxed credit impairment 114.960 0 114.960 144.000

Provisions for risks -3.600 0 -3.600 0

Other prepaid taxes -4.259 0 -4.259 15.004

Total 109.359 -399 108.960 559.442

Previous 
period

Increases Deferred 
tax assets 

recognised in the 
Income Statement 

during the year

Decreases 
Deferred tax assets 
recognised in the 
Income Statement 

during the year

Other 
variations

Current 
Period

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

11.700 618 -6.770 -79 5.469

Amortisation of IAS intangible 
assets

11.015 1.052 -5.928 0 6.139

Losses from previous year 
carried forward

46.871 0 -46.871 0 0

Securities impairment 268.153 0 0 0 268.153

Lease agreements 62.699 0 -62.699 0 0

Taxed credit impairment 144.000 120.000 0 0 264.000

Other prepaid taxes 15.004 12.464 -15.004 0 12.464

Total 559.442 134.134 -137.272 -79 556.225

CURRENT ASSETS

5. Inventory
Inventories amounted to €2,108,301 (€1,611,332 as at 30/09/2017).
These are the inventories of natural gas stored at Stogit S.p.A. for the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. and natural gas stored at 
S.N.G.N. RomGaz S.A..
As at 30 September 2018, the amount of 82,319.27 MWh was stored in Italy and 4,968.00 MWh in Romania, for which a mon-
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Other financial assets - breakdown 

Period Current Period Previous

Receivables from subsidiaries 0 0

Receivables from affiliates 1.201.533 9.347.388

Financial receivables 0 450.000

Other securities 850 850

Total current financial assets 1.202.383 9.798.238

Other current financial assets 30/09/2018 30/09/2017

10 No. BCC Banca di Verona shares 850 850

Total 850 850

thly weighted average cost valuation was carried out.

6. Financial assets
Financial assets amounted to €1,202,383 (€9,798,238 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

This is mainly the financial receivable from LE Trading SA for €1,152,599 (€9,347,388 in the previous year) for which 
€8,194,789 was received during the year.
All outstanding loans are interest-bearing at the market rate.

The item also includes securities that are described below:

7. Tax receivables
Tax receivables amounted to €2,087,877 (€5,156,149 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

To date, these assets are still part of the Company’s portfolio.
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Current Period Previous Period

VAT receivables 1.441.028 3.795.240

Research and development tax credit 170.136 151.930

Withholdings 125 2.754

Other receivables 476.588 1.206.225

Total tax receivables 2.087.877 5.156.149

Current Period Previous Period

towards third parties 99.350.159 30.566.341

From non-consolidated Group companies 405.621 39.893

Total accounts receivable - gross 99.755.780 30.606.234

Credit impairment fund -1.583.729 -754.715

Total accounts receivable - net 98.172.051 29.851.519

The tax credits for research and development activities were generated by the costs incurred and the hours of internal white 
collar staff employed in the study and implementation of the projects “NOVA DESK, NOVA TRADING, EXTERNAL PLATFORM 
FOR MANAGEMENT AND BILLING DEVELOPMENT, USER VIRTUAL DOOR AND RELATIVE CRM AND COMMISSIONING 
PLATFORM DEVELOPMENT”.
Total investment expenses amounted to €381,668 and the related tax credit accrued pursuant to Law 190/2014 amounted to 
€170,136, referring to R&D expenses incurred in the period from 01/10/2017 to 30/09/2018.
The item “others” mainly consists of net receivables for excise duties and Energy and Gas surcharges in 2016 and 2017 that 
will be recovered with the presentation of the declaration for 2018 that will be presented in March 2019.

8. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivables net of impairment losses amounted to €98,172,051 (€29,851,519 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

The increase in trade receivables and payables is due to an increase in the volumes of electricity and gas sold and purchased 
in 3Q18 compared to 3Q17.
In fact, the turnover of 3Q18 was equal to K€197,011 while 3Q17 was equal to K€119,542. This is due to an increase in 
sales to end customers (we remind you of the large increase in the number of customers with the corresponding volumes going 
from 47,620 MWh in 3Q17 to 109,069 MWh in 3Q18 for electricity and from 1,776,000 m3 in 3Q17 to 2,285,000 Sm3 in 
3Q18 for gas as well as intermediate energy during the summer period).

The credit impairment fund has changed as described below in the year under review:
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Current Period Previous Period

Cash on hand 583 104

Bank deposits 5.776.575 4.958.717

Other cash and cash equivalents 0 1.976

Total 5.777.158 4.960.797

Previous period Provision in the 
year

Use/Release 
during the year

Period 
current year

Credit impairment fund 154.715 483.729 -154.715 483.729

Taxed credit impairment fund 600.000 500.000 0 1.100.000

Total 754.715 983.729 -154.715 1.583.729

 

Italy EU Non-EU Total

Accounts receivable 82.362.005 15.810.046 0 98.172.051

In this financial year, the company continued its analysis of 
all types of receivables in a timely manner, including throu-
gh specialist recovery companies.
For residual receivables, i.e. not entrusted to the recovery 
companies, an analytical procedure has been adopted to 
assess the collectability of the most significant individual 
receivables.
For the remaining classes, which are divided into homoge-

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to €5,777,158 (€4,960,797 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

With reference to bank accounts, please note that on the closing date, the total amount of €2,152,287 has been used as 
guarantee for credit lines granted by Italian and foreign banks (€1,652,370 as at 30/09/2017). 

10. Other assets
Other assets amounted to €17,241,807 (€24,051,347 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

neous classes with similar risk profiles, a summary valua-
tion procedure was used, applying write-down percentages 
in order to create a historical basis for the valuation for fu-
ture years.
All these analyses led to the integration of the tax recei-
vables write-down provision with another taxed provision 
of €500,000, bringing the taxed provision to 30/09/2018 
equal to €1,100,000.
Accounts receivable divided by region are listed below:
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Current Period Previous Period

Receivables to Social Security institutions 7.681 23.696

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 1.741.629 999.901

Security deposits 1.533.633 3.029.043

Other assets 13.958.864 19.998.707

Total 17.241.807 24.051.347

Accrued income and prepaid expenses Current Period Previous Period

Agent commissions 1.486.617 704.038

Subscription/membership fees 17.322 38.598

Insurance and bank guarantees 45.288 89.325

Lease agreements 0 26.913

Other 192.402 141.027

Total 1.741.629 999.901

Other assets Current Period Previous Period

Advance payments to suppliers 128.983 4.546.489

Other 13.829.881 15.452.218

Total 13.958.864 19.998.707

The item “Guarantee deposits” mainly includes the deposit paid to GME for €375,000 to guarantee purchases of electricity 
and other guarantee deposits for a total of €714,633 paid to CAO (Central Allocation Office), Snam Rete Gas, Terna, CEGH 
and other suppliers to guarantee existing contracts.

Please note that there are no accruals and deferrals exceeding 5 (five) years listed on the balance sheet closing on 30/09/2018.

“Advances to suppliers” consist of advance payments to agents on account of future commissions.
The item “Other” mainly includes “Receivables for MTM” deriving from the valuation (Mark-To-Market) of derivative contracts 
for the purchase/sale of electricity and gas for €13,752,893 (€15,058,425 as at 30/09/2017) valued at the “Fair Value” 
which represents the value emerging at the date of preparation of the financial statements of the contracts entered into by the 
Company (portfolio) in periods subsequent to the balance sheet date.

The composition and distinction between current and non-current portions are shown below:
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes Current Period Period
period

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

Other reserves 13.256.526 10.987.290

Profit (loss) carried forward -425 -425

Operating profit (loss) 2.759.492 2.581.047

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 17.924.323 15.476.644

Shareholders’ Equity and net profit (loss) for the period 
attributable to minority interests

-411.835 0

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 11 17.512.488 12.699.440

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial payables 12 635.628 639.779

Provision for risks and charges 13 35.966 20.894

Severance pay and other employee benefits 14 415.246 381.096

Deferred tax liabilities 15 32.019 93.452

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1.118.859 1.135.221

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current financial payables 16 21.958.224 30.367.402

Tax payables 17 2.276.527 654.262

Accounts payable 18 93.970.272 36.301.879

Total liabilities 19 3.750.093 3.060.777

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 121.955.116 70.360.320

TOTAL LIABILITIES 123.073.975 71.495.541

 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 140.586.464 86.972.247
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Current Period Previous Period

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

- Legal reserve 195.178 195.178

- Share premium reserve 418.502 418.502

- IAS FTA 2014 conversion reserve -310 -1.489

- Extraordinary reserve 5.019.918 5.042.789

- Consolidation reserve 7.623.241 5.332.310

Other reserves 13.256.526 10.987.290

Profit (loss) carried forward -425 -425

Operating profit (loss) 2.759.492 2.581.047

Total Group Shareholders’ Equity 17.924.323 15.476.642

Non-controlling interests -411.835 0

Shareholders’ Equity 17.512.488 15.476.642

Shareholders’ Equity Operating

Values as per the financial statements of the parent company Ener-
gia G&P S.r.l. as at 30/09/2018

(net)

Net profit and Shareholders’ equity of subsidiaries -237.760 -248.092

Write-off of book value of investments -6.574 0

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to the Group 
(A) -915.384 -907.289

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to third 
parties (B)

71.524 74.428

Shareholders’ equity as resulting from the consolidated financial 
statements closing on 30/09/2018 (A+B) -843.870 -832.861

11. Shareholders’ Equity
The information for each category of shares forming the share capital is provided and commented below.

Shareholders’ equity attributable to the Group and non-controlling interests consists of the following items:

The parent company’s share capital amounts to €1,908,730 
and is divided into 1,908,730 no. shares with a nominal 
value of €1 each.

Reconciliation of the Shareholders’ Equity and net profit of 
the parent company and Shareholders’ Equity and net profit 
of the Group
In order to better understand the structure of the Sharehol-
ders’ Equity of the Group and non-controlling interests 
generated as a result of adjustments in the procedure of 

consolidation, please take a look at the following three sta-
tements:

a) the following table refers to the drawing up of the first 
“sub-consolidated” statements that identify Europe Energy 
S.p.A. as the parent company for the current and previous 
year:
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Shareholders’ Equity Operating
(net)

Values as per financial statements of the Parent company Europe 
Energy S.p.A. as at 30/09/2018

19.587.755 3.168.291

Net profit and Shareholders’ equity of subsidiaries -936.635 -683.970

Write-off of book value of investments -134.750 0

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to the Group 
(A) 18.516.370 2.484.321

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to third 
parties (B)

340.311 263.491

Shareholders’ equity as resulting from the consolidated financial 
statements closing on 30/09/2018 (A+B) 18.856.681 2.747.812

Shareholders' Equity Net profit

Values as per financial statements of the Parent company Europe 
Energy Holding on 30/09/2018

7.553.271 11.679

Net profit and Shareholders’ equity of subsidiaries 18.856.6879 2.747.813

Write-off of book value of investments -8.485.627 0

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to the Group 
(A) 17.924.323 2.759.492

Shareholders’ equity and operating profit attributable to third 
parties (B)

-411.835 -337.919

Shareholders’ equity as resulting from the consolidated financial 
statements closing on 30/09/2018 (A+B) 17.512.488 2.421.573

b) the following table refers to the draft “sub-consolidated” statements that identify Europe Energy S.p.A. as the parent com-
pany for the current and previous year:

c) the following table instead lists the balances for the parent company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. that for the purpose inte-
grates the sub-group “sub-consolidated Europe Energy S.p.A.”:
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CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CONSOLIDATED AMOUNT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP AS OF 30/09/2018

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Share 
premium 
reserve

FTA 
reserve 

Extraor-
dinary 
reserve

Consolida-
tion

reserve

Profit 
(loss) 

carried 
forward

Operating 
profit Total

As at closing date - 
30/09/2017

1.908.730 195.178 418.502 -1.488 5.042.789 5.332.310 -426 2.581.047 15.476.644

Distribution of 
operating profit as 
of 30/09/2017

0 0 0 0 -22.871 0 0 22.871 0

Reclassified 
operating profit 
of consolidating 
company as at 
30/09/2017

0 0 0 0 0 2.603.918 0 -2.603.918 0

IAS effect 0 0 0 1.178 0 0 0 0 1.178

Effect of change 
in consolidation 
scope

0 0 0 0 0 -312.989 0 0 -312.989

Operating profit 
in current period 
(30/09/2018)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.759.492 2.759.492

On closing date - 
30/09/2018 1.908.730 195.178 418.502 -310 5.019.918 7.623.241 -426 2.759.492 17.924.325

The chart below shows the structure and changes in the Group’s consolidated Shareholders’ Equity:
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CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CONSOLIDATED AMOUNT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP AS OF 30/09/2017

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Share 
premium 
reserve

FTA 
reserve 

Extraor-
dinary 
reserve

Consolida-
tion

reserve

Profit (loss) 
carried 
forward

Operating 
profit Total

As at closing date - 
30/09/2016

1.908.730 194.129 418.502 -1.488 5.022.881 3.816.570 -1.803 1.341.919 12.699.440

Distribution of 
operating profit as 
of 30/09/2016

0 1.049 0 0 19.908 0 0 -20.957 0

Reclassified 
operating profit 
of consolidating 
company as at 
30/09/2016

0 0 0 0 0 1.320.962 0 -1.320.962 0

IAS effect 0 0 0  0 0 1.377 0 1.377

Effect of change 
in consolidation 
scope

0 0 0 0 0 194.778  0 194.778

Operating profit 
in current period 
(30/09/2017)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.581.047 2.581.047

As at closing date - 
30/09/2017 1.908.730 195.178 418.502 -1.488 5.042.789 5.332.310 -426 2.581.047 15.476.644

CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CONSOLIDATED MINORITY INTERESTS AS AT 30/09/2018

Share capital and Reserves Operating profit

As at closing date - 30/09/2017 0 0

Acquisition of investments in Romania (Cancellation in 
Romanian consolidation)

-71.524 -74.428

Acquisition of investments in Romania / Slovenia 
(Cancellation in Europe Energy S.p.A. consolidation)

-340.311 -263.491

On closing date - 30/09/2018 -411.835 -337.919

Shareholders’ equity attributable to minority interests amounted to €-411,385, of which €-337,919 attributable to the result 
for the current year. The relative movements during the year were as follows:
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Provisions for future risks and expenses - breakdown

Current Period Previous Period

Lay-off fund and similar obligations 35.966 20.894

Total provisions for future risks and expenses 35.966 20.894

Provisions for future risks and expenses - changes

Altri fondi rischi e oneri futuri

Starting balance 20.894 

Additional provisions 25.620

Provisions used -10.548

Closing balance 35.966

Previous period Provision in the 
year

Use/Release 
during the year

Period 
current year

FTA reserve dell’esercizio Periodo 1.178 -310

First Time Adoption Reserve
The reserve refers to the value calculated during first-time application of the IAS/IFRS and changed as follows during the year:

The FTA reserve was booked in the opening assets and lia-
bilities statement of the first balance sheet (1/10/2014) 
prepared in accordance with the IFRS and is considered 
an available reserve. The release in the income statement 
operated during the year refers entirely to the Fair Value 
allocated in the previous year.

Consolidation reserve
As at 30 September 2018, the item amounts to €7,623,241 
and the changes that occurred during the financial year re-
fer mainly to the value carried forward for operating profit in 
the previous year and the lower differences in consolidation, 
mainly due to the exchange rate of the perimeter. The total 
also includes the Euro translation reserve relating to the 
Romania consolidation, amounting to €654.

The “Provision for pensions and similar obligations” of 
€35,966 (€20,894 in the previous year) represents the ac-
crual to the supplementary clientele severance indemnity 
fund which, in accordance with IAS 37, if the liability refers 
to deferred payments, must be discounted at a rate, gross of 
taxes, that reflects current market assessments of the cur-
rent value of money and the specific risks associated with 
the liability. The provision increases in each period to reflect 
the passage of time, with the borrowing costs accounted for 
according to competence. 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

12. Non-current financial payables
Loans amounted to €635,628 (€639,779 in the previous 
year).
This item refers to loans obtained from banks and relates to 
the non-current portion.

13. Provisions for future risks and expenses
Provisions for future risk and expenses amounted to 
€35,966 (€20,894 in the previous year).
The item’s structure and the changes in value during the 
year are provided and commented below.

During the year, this standard was applied to the provision 
for agents’ termination indemnities, which resulted in a ne-
gative difference of €136,874 (€64,641 in the previous 
year); the determination of the company’s total obligation 
towards agents was carried out by an independent actuary 
on the basis of the following economic and financial assu-
mptions relating to the parameters involved in the calcula-
tion:
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Economic assumptions 30/09/2018 30/09/2017

Discount rate 1,09% 0,96%

Outstanding procedures
On 19 March 2015 following verification activities relating to 
both direct taxes, VAT, the Guardia di Finanza has issued a 
Report Finding in regard to certain operations carried out by 
Europe Energy S.p.A. (the “Company”) in the period 2009-
2013. 
With regard to the PVC issued, on 14 May 2015, the Com-
pany submitted its observations to the Lombardy Regional 
Tax Office (the “Tax Office”) in accordance with Article 12.7 
of Law 212/2000 reiterating that the claims filed should be 
considered absolutely devoid of any substance. 
On 29 June 2015 the Tax Office issued a notice of asses-
sment for the 2009 tax year only; again on the same date, 
the Tax Office also issued a formal penalty notice for the 
same tax year.
With regard to the penalties, on 1 September 2015, the 
Company promptly presented its defensive arguments pur-
suant to Article 16 of Legislative Decree 472/97, reiterating 
once again that the allegations made were to be regarded as 
completely unanswered.
On 15 September 2015, the Company presented an applica-
tion for tax settlement by consent pursuant to Article 6.2 of 
Legislative Decree 218.97; 
The terms for the investigation with accession have fruitlessly 
expired on December 31, 2015. 
The Company therefore notified an appeal against the notice 
of assessment on 24 December 2015 for the tax year 2009. 
The appeal was filed with the Milan Provincial Tax Commis-
sion (“CTP”) on 19 January 2016.
On 4 January 2016, the tax assessment notice, also issued 
by the Tax Office, was served for the 2010 tax year; on the 
same date, the Tax Office also issued a formal penalty notice 
with reference to the same tax year.
Again, with regard to the penalties, on 14 January 2016 the 
Company presented its defensive deductions pursuant to Ar-
ticle 16 of Legislative Decree No. 58/1998. 472/97. 
As far as taxes are concerned, on the other hand, the Com-
pany filed an appeal on 13 June 2016, after having unneces-
sarily completed the consent phase.
On 10 August 2016, disregarding the Company’s defensive 
deductions, the Tax Office issued a notice of imposition of 
penalties for the 2009 tax period, immediately challenged 
by the Company with an appeal filed on 22 November 2016.
On 20 December 2016, the Tax Office notified:
- the notice of assessment for the 2011 tax year;
- the formal penalty notice relating to 2011;
- the formal penalty notice relating to 2012;
- the act of imposing penalties relating to 2010.
This last notice was immediately challenged by an appeal 

filed with CTP on 24 February 2017.
With regard to the 2011 and 2012 penalties, on 31 Ja-
nuary 2017 the company presented its defensive deductions 
pursuant to Article 16 of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998. 
472/97. 
With regard to the 2011 tax, on the other hand, the Company 
filed a timely appeal with CTP on 13 June 2017, again after 
having completed the consent phase in vain.
In the meantime, on 8 February 2017, the CTP filed its 
ruling on the notice of assessment for the 2009 tax year, 
upholding the Company’s appeal. On 6 September 2017, the 
Tax Office appealed to the CTR against the CTP ruling and 
on 6 November 2017 the Company appeared in the second 
instance and filed its counter-arguments.
On 14 April 2017, the CTP filed its ruling on the notice of 
assessment for the 2010 tax year, upholding the Company’s 
appeal. On 5 October 2017, the Tax Office appealed to the 
CTR against the CTP ruling and on 4 December 2017 the 
Company appeared in the second instance and filed its own 
counter-arguments.
On 5 May 2017, the CTP filed its ruling on the imposition 
of penalties for the 2009 tax year, upholding the Company’s 
appeal. On 5 October 2017, the Tax Office appealed to the 
CTR against the CTP ruling and on 4 December 2017 the 
Company appeared in the second instance and filed its own 
counter-arguments.
On 16 November 2017, the CTP filed its ruling on the impo-
sition of penalties for the 2010 tax year, rejecting the Com-
pany’s appeal despite the fact that the Company’s appeal for 
the same tax period had already been accepted on 14 April 
2017. The Company filed an appeal within the statutory de-
adline and the CTR, by order of 21 March 2018, suspended 
the enforceability of the contested measure of assessment.
On 22 March 2018, the CTP filed its ruling on the notice of 
assessment for the 2011 tax year, rejecting the Company’s 
appeal. The Company appealed and requested CTR to su-
spend the contested assessment notice as a precautionary 
measure.
On 22 November 2017 the Tax Office notified:
- the act of imposing penalties relating to 2011.
- the act of imposing penalties relating to 2012.
The Company has challenged both documents by lodging an 
appeal with the CTP, which was filed on 10 January 2018. 
On 14 December 2017, the Tax Office notified:
- the notice of assessment for the 2012 tax year;
- the formal penalty notice relating to 2013;
The Company challenged the assessment notice for 2012 by 
appealing to the CTP, filed on 10 June 2018.
With regard to the 2013 penalties, on 21 December 2017 
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the Company presented its defensive deductions pursuant to 
Article 16 of Legislative Decree no. 472/97. 
On 31 July 2018, the Tax Office notified:
- the notice of assessment for the 2013 tax year;
- the act of imposing penalties relating to 2013;
- the formal penalty notice relating to 2014;
With regard to the 2014 penalties, on 18 September 2018 
the Company presented its defensive deductions pursuant to 
Article 16 of Legislative Decree no. 472/97. 
On 8 October 2018, a hearing was held before the Brescia 
Regional Tax Commission to discuss the appeals relating to 
the 2009 and 2010 tax and the 2009 and 2010 penalties, 
following which an order was issued to stay the proceedings 
pending the decision by the EU Court of Justice of a question 
of preliminary interpretation concerning the rule applied by 
the Tax Office (a question referred to it by the Milan Regional 
Tax Commission in a case concerning tax measures based on 
the same Official Tax Audit Reports on which the assessmen-
ts and penalties notified to the Company are based).
On 17 October 2018, the CTP filed its decision, after having 
joined them, rejecting the appeals against the assessment 
notice for 2012 and the penalties for 2011 and 2012. On 
15 January 2019, the Company appealed against this sen-
tence, also requesting the precautionary suspension of the 
execution of the acts. The CTR has not yet scheduled a hea-
ring for the discussion of the suspension.
On 9 November 2018, the Company filed its appeal against 
the 2013 sanctions, which will be discussed with the CTP on 
18 March 2019.
On 25 January 2019, the Company notified (but had not yet 
filed) its appeal against the 2013 assessment, for which it 
also applied for precautionary suspension.
On 30 January 2019, a hearing was held to discuss the ap-
peal and the related request for suspension concerning the 
assessment for 2011. The CTR has granted the suspension, 
but has not yet filed its judgment on the merits.
The Company, on the basis of: i) the three favourable judge-
ments regarding the annulment of the tax assessments for 
the 2009 and 2010 tax years; ii) the two suspension orders 
issued by CTR in the appeal proceedings against the unfa-
vourable judgements; iii) the previous rulings concerning the 
appeals lodged by third-party companies against the asses-
sments arising from the same tax assessment report, which 
were practically all favourable to the taxpayer companies, and 
in particular the four already published rulings, with which 
the CTR censured the affirmative thesis; iv) the conclusions 
reached by the Advocate General before the Court of Justice 
of the European Union in the deferral case C-712/17 (which 
regards the irregularity shown with the Official Tax Audit Re-
ports), with which the need is affirmed to adjust (ed.’s note: 
cancel) “the tax debt as soon as a risk of loss of tax revenue is 
excluded”, pointing out the disproportionality of the penalty 
imposed by the Italian tax authorities in the event that “there 
was no risk of loss of tax revenue” and also raising doubts 

as to the very possibility of non-existent transactions being 
carried out; v) the authoritative opinions of its consultants, 
considers that the risk associated with such assessments is 
to be considered possible and therefore no provision should 
be made in these financial statements.

In December 2018, the Milan Provincial Tax Agency notified 
the Company (as consolidator, for IRES purposes only) and 
eleven wholly-owned subsidiaries (subsequently removed 
from the Company Register or merged by incorporation into 
the Company, including for IRAP and VAT purposes) of a se-
ries of notices of assessment for the tax year 2013.
For all the tax measures, on 5 February 2019, with the sub-
mission of separate applications, the procedure of tax settle-
ment by consent was started, which is still in progress.
The Company, in light of: i) the obvious non-comprehensibi-
lity of the assessment system underlying the above disputes; 
ii) the existence of a still pending phase of accession and the 
fact that there are well-grounded reasons to believe that a re-
consideration, at least partial, is possible by the office of the 
disputes themselves; iii) the circumstance that, as regards 
the companies already liquidated and deleted from the Com-
panies Register (i.e. all except Cognolo Energia S. r. l. and 
Europe Energy Gas&Power S.p.A. ), the responsibility of the 
shareholder Europe Energy is in any case the responsibility 
of the shareholder Europe Energy is in any case limited to 
any amounts allocated to it in liquidation; it considers that, 
at present, the risk associated with such assessments is also 
to be qualified as possible and therefore no provision should 
be made in these financial statements.

14. Severance pay and other employee benefits
The item includes debt for advance tax payments and 
amounts to €415,246 (€381,096 in the previous year) and 
has recorded the following fluctuations:
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Current Period

Starting balance 381.096

Net operating provision 153.115

Use for lay-off and/or advances -120.485

Borrowing costs (interest costs) -2.575

Actuarial gains (losses) 4.095

Closing balance 415.246

Economic assumptions 30/09/2018 30/09/2017 

Increase in cost of living 1,50% 1,50%

Discount rate 1,45% 1,55%

Salary increment 0,50% 0,50%

Demographic assumptions 30/09/2018 30/09/2017 

Probability of death 1% 1%

Turnover 10% 10%

The items Actuarial gains and losses and Financial expen-
ses (interest cost) are generated by the actuarial method 
applied to calculate the value of the fund and recalculated 
as of 1 January 2007. As mentioned above, in accordance 
with IAS 19, the Company lists actuarial gains and losses 
directly under equity.
As already indicated in the section on preparation criteria, 
following the amendments introduced by Law No. 296 of 
27 December 2006 (“2007 Finance Act”) and the sub-
sequent implementing Decrees and Regulations, only the 
liability relating to the employee severance payments that 
remained with the company was valued for the purposes of 

The values calculated on the basis of actuarial assumptions 
as of 30 September 2018 resulted in accounting for a de-
crease of €4,095 (net of the related fiscal effect) compared 
to the value of the fund on 30 September 2017 with an 
offset account listed, net of the related tax effect, in the 
statement of income and expenses booked under equity, as 
indicated by the reference standard.
The discount rates used for the revaluation of liabilities 
are defined on the basis of the yield curves of high-quality 

IAS 19, since the amounts accrued from 1 January 2007, 
as a result of the choices made by employees during the 
first half of 2007, were paid to a separate entity (supple-
mentary pension funds or INPS funds). As a result of these 
payments, the Company will no longer have obligations for 
work performed by employees in the future (so-called defi-
ned contribution plan).

The Company’s obligation towards employees was calcu-
lated by an independent actuary based on the following 
economic and financial assumptions about the economic 
parameters involved in the calculation:

fixed-income securities for which the amounts and due-da-
tes correspond to the amounts and due-dates of payments 
estimated for the benefits. The effect of the increase or de-
crease of 1/4% in the rate of increase in the cost of living 
and the 1/4% in the discount rate used, assuming all other 
assumptions remain the same, would look as follows:
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Demographic assumptions Rate of increase 
in cost of living

Discount 
rate

Change in % 1/4% -1/4% 1/4% -1/4%

Net effect 47.945 34.256 33.096 49.228

Deferred tax liabilities: detailed breakdown for current year and previous year

Total
30/09/2017

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

Total 
30/09/2018

Delta depreciation improvements 14.905 0 0 14.905

Supplementary customer indemnity 
provision

15.514 0 0 15.514

Default interest receivables not 
collected

59.850 -59.850 0 0

Tax effect of IAS valuation of employee 
severance payments

0 1.601 0 1.601

Dividends not collected 3.184 -3.184 0 0

Total 93.452 -61.433 0 32.019

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) - 

Offsetting item in
Income Statement 

- Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) - 

Offsetting item in 
Income Statement 

- Current year

Total offsetting 
item in Income 

Statement - 
Current year

Total 
30/09/2018

Delta depreciation improvements 0 0 0 14.905

Supplementary customer indemnity 
provision

10.925 0 10.925 15.513

Default interest receivables not col-
lected

22.064 0 22.064 59.850

Dividends not collected -924 0 -924 3.184

Other than merger -40 0 -40 0

Total 32.065 0 32.065 93.452

Totale -152.802 -17.933 -170.737 61.428

15. Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities amounted to €32,019 (€93,452 in the previous year).
The item was calculated on temporary differences between the values listed in the financial statements and the corresponding 
values recognised for tax purposes, on the basis of the rates that we assume will be applied at the time when these differences 
will be cancelled out: IRES 24% and IRAP 3.9%.
The breakdown of prepaid tax assets and the nature of the items and the temporary differences from which they emerge is provi-
ded and commented below.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES: CHANGES

30/09/2017

Deferred tax 
assets/liabilities 

booked in 
the Income 

statement in the 
period

Decrease in 
deferred tax 

assets/liabilities 
booked in the 

Income statement 
in the period

30/09/2018

Supplementary customer indemnity 
provision

15.513 0 0 15.513

Delta depreciation improvements 14..905 0 0 14..905

Default interest receivables not col-
lected

59.850 0 -59.850 0

Dividends not collected 3.184 0 -3.184 0

IAS effect on employee severance 
payments

0 1.601 0 1.601

Total 93.452 1.601 63.035 32.019

Current Period Previous Period 

Bank loans 21.958.224 30.178.336

Other loans - short-term lease share 0 189.058

Total 21.958.224 30.367.402

CURRENT LIABILITIES

16. Current financial payables
The items amounts to €21,958,224 (€30,367,402 in the previous year). Debt due within one year are representable as follows:
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Current Period Previous Period

VAT 149 149

IRES 790.541 199.295

IRAP 152.367 -2.351

Employee withholding taxes 49.439 37.923

Independent contractor withholding taxes 48.518 42.682

Other tax payables 1.235.513 376.564

Total 2.276.527 654.262

Trade payables broken down by geographical area

Payables to third parties Italy EU Non-EU Total

Outstanding Letters of credit -293.300 -76.088 0 -369.388

Suppliers 10.347.828 4.904.851 156.404 15.409.083

Outstanding invoices 69.832.293 9.098.284 0 78.930.577

Total 79.886.821 13.927.047 156.404 93.970.272

The item “loans” refers, with the exception of fees and portions of loans falling due within 12 months, to the use of credit 
lines for the disinvestment of trade receivables through the opening of a current account credit or the taking out of advances 
on invoices.

17. Tax payables
The item amounted to €2,276,527 (€654,262 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

The liability for IRES and IRAP corresponds to the liability generated by the calculation of current taxes for the year net of 
advances paid.
The item “Other tax payables” mainly includes €1,074,616 for excise duties and EE and Gas surcharges for 2018.

18. Accounts payable
Payables to affiliates are booked for a total €93,970,272 (€36,301,879 as at 30/09/2013) and are listed in the balance sheet 
net of any trade discounts and cash at hand indicated in the invoice. Their nominal value has been adjusted in the event of 
invoicing adjustments, in the measure of the amount listed as offset.
These debts are to be considered in their entirety as all current.

These debts are to be considered in their entirety as all current.
For the significant increase, please consider what is written in point 8. Accounts receivable.
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Other payables – breakdown 

Current Period Previous Period 

Salaries and wages 435.575 293.987

Payables to Social security institutions 157.854 153.539

Directors’ fees 24.264 35.536

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1.474.231 1.225.499

Other payables 1.658.169 1.328.216

Total 3.750.093 3.036.777

19. Other liabilities
The item amounted to €3,750,093 (€3,036,777 in the previous year).
The structure and details of accrued liabilities are set out below and commented.

Accrued expenses and deferred income refer to charges for 
the year that have not yet been incurred and mainly compri-
se €201,060 for grants to be paid to ARERA.

The item Other payables mainly refers to the payable to 
final consumers for the Energy and Gas guarantee deposi-
ts paid for the activation of utilities equal to €1,132,496 
(€1,052,280 as at 30/09/2017).

Potential obligations and liabilities
Obligations
As of 30 September 2018, the Company’s obligations and 
liabilities amounted to €11,256,233 (€14,061,052 as at 
30/09/2017) and can be broken down as follows: 
• Bank guarantees issued to electricity suppliers for 
€4,550,000 compared to €7,600,000 in the year that clo-
sed on 30/09/2017;
• Bank guarantees issued to gas suppliers for 
€1,106,000 compared to €608,494 for the year ended 
30/09/2017;
• Bank guarantees issued to Customs offices for 
€510,000, unchanged compared to the previous year;
• Bank guarantees issued for purchase of electricity 
from the electricity stock exchange and on the IDEX MAR-
KET for €1,000,000 (compared to €650,000 in the year 
that closed on 30/09/2017);
• Bank guarantees issued for accessory services on 
electricity and gas purchases (transport, dispatching, etc.) 
for €2,003,858 compared to €639,579 in the year ended 
on 30/09/2017;
• Bank guarantees given in favour of group compa-
nies for €1,975,000 compared to €4,450,000 for the year 
ended on 30/09/2017;

• Other guarantees of €111,375 (€112,978 as 
at 30/09/2017), of which €100,731 in favour of Gascom 
S.r.l. in liquidation to guarantee the employee severance 
payment transferred with the purchase of the company on 
08/06/2017.
With reference to bank guarantees granted to Group compa-
nies for €1,975,000 (€4,450,000 as at 30/09/2017) they 
are all in favour of the following companies:
LE Trading AS of €1,600,000:
- €1,200,000 for a bank guarantee for opening a 
credit line;
- €400,000 as a guarantee for contractual obliga-
tions.
Energia G&P S.r.l. (Romania) €325,000 as guarantee for 
contractual obligations;
Energia G&P D.o.o. (Slovenia) €50,000 as guarantee for 
opening a current account on site.

It is acknowledged that by deed of pledge signed on 8 June 
2017, the company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. establi-
shed a right of pledge on share certificate no. 23, repre-
senting 3,500,000 shares, with a total nominal value of 
€3,500,000 and equal to 70% (one hundred percent) of 
the share capital of the company Europe Energy S.p.A. in 
favour of Unicredit S.p.A. to guarantee the receivables clai-
med for the loan granted of €5,468,929 which as of today 
present a residual debt of €4,101,696.
This pledge is a constraint on the distribution of dividends.

Part G
Information about the Profit & Loss Account
Item breakdown
Before we proceed to discuss the individual items, please 
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Current Period Previous Period

Sales 453.241.011 283.109.552

Fair value of derivatives -1.097.778 10.145.408

Provision of services 1.290.330 771.271

Total 453.433.563 294.026.231

Current Period Previous Period

Italy 295.133.810 209.196.749

Other EU countries 158.299.753 84.829.482

Total 453.433.563 294.026.231

TYPE OF CONTRACT CONTRACTS
CONTRACT FAIR VALUE REFERENCE 

QUANTITY (MWh)

Financial Acquisto 44.028.443 1.448.575 

Financial Vendita -42.945.341 -1.337.751 

Physical Acquisto EE 8.511.122 3.651.588 

Physical Acquisto GAS 2.632.543 801.210 

Physical Vendita EE 2.457.263 -3.963.997 

Physical Vendita GAS -931.136 - 531.342 

Total 13.752.894 

Closing Fair Value effect as at 
30/09/2017

-14.850.672 

Total -1.097.778 

note that the comments to the general trend of costs and revenues, as required under the 1st paragraph of art. 2428 of the 
Italian Civil Code, are discussed in the Report of the Board.
The analytical discussion of the profits or losses in the Income statement and the preceding comments to the items of the 
Assets and Liabilities allow us to confine our discussion hereinafter to the main items alone.

20. Revenues from sales and services
Revenues from sales and the provision of services amounted to €453,433,563 (€294,026,231 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

The increase in revenues is mainly due to lower volumes of electricity sold for the reasons described in the Report of the Board.

Below is the breakdown by geographical area:

Trading margin
Below we provide a statement summarising the main characteristics of financial derivatives used for the purposes described in 
the Management Report (hedging) and booked as stated under Part A of these Explanatory Notes, as at 30 September 2018:
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TYPE OF CONTRACT CONTRACTS
PURCHASE/SALE FAIR VALUE REFERENCE 

QUANTITY (MWh)

Financial FAIR VALUE QUANTITATIVO 9.428.132

Financial Vendita -32.569.401 9.421.093

Physical Acquisto 53.072.386 5.259.103

Physical Vendita -48.623.139 4.957.882

Physical Acquisto EE -4.386.930 1.793.266

Physical Acquisto GAS -1.458.672 728.439

Total Vendita EE 14.834.663 2.182.150

Closing Fair Value effect as at 
30/09/2016

Vendita GAS 1.412.365 594.697

Total 14.850.672

Chiusura effetto Fair Value al 
30/09/2016

-4.705.264

Totale 10.145.408

The following table shows the same information for the year that ended on 30/09/2017:
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Current Period Previous Period

Contingent assets 492.113 920.481

Contribution for Research and Development 170.136 151.930

Other revenues 426.370 249.274

Total 1.088.619 1.321.685

Current Period Previous Period

Raw materials and consumables 436.329.606 280.112.924

Supplies and miscellaneous 42.804 39.768

Changes in inventories of raw materials, consumables and 
supplies

-411.749 -957.561

Total 435.960.661 279.195.131

Hedges mainly refer to the PUN (National Single Price) and prices listed on the EEX (European Energy Exchange). These con-
tracts are classified as either CFD (Contract For Difference) or futures contracts with impact on the period 2018-2019.

21. Other revenues and income
Other revenues and income amounted to €1,088,619 (€1,321,685 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

Operating costs
22. Cost of raw materials, consumables and commodities
Raw materials and supplies used amounted to €435,960,661 (€279,195,131 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.
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Current Period Previous Period

Costs for services 7.885.375 5.654.064

Leasehold costs 412.608 1.013.085

Credit impairment 983.729 754.715

Utilisation of provisions for risks -10.548 0

Miscellaneous operating expenses 1.168.686 1.596.741

Total value 10.439.850 9.018.605

Current Period Previous Period

Transport 527.687 128.262

Utilities (water, gas, electricity) 18.111 11.555

Maintenance and external processing 284.357 294.821

Technical and legal consulting 1.531.501 1.602.497

Directors’ fees 673.856 908.603

Auditors’ fees 58.769 112.788

Remuneration of independent auditor 67.314 98.150

Similar services to employees 40.933 865

Agent commissions 2.553.501 805.604

Advertising 449.300 90.944

Telephone and postal costs 31.805 25.162

Insurance fees 182.161 51.070

Corporate representation 50.377 22.819

Business trips and transfers 131.484 137.526

Training and refresher courses 132.088 91.983

Other costs for services 1.152.131 1.271.415

Total 7.885.375 5.654.064

23. Other operating costs
Other operating costs amounting to €10,439,850 (€9,018,605 in the previous year) are structured as follows and are detailed 
below:

Costs for services
Costs for services amounted to €7,885,375 (€5,654,064 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.
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Current Period Previous Period

Rents and leases 235.335 804.449

Other leasehold costs 177.273 208.636

Total 412.608 1.013.085

Current Period Previous Period

Stamp duty, levies and other taxes 72.560 73.145

Capital losses 25.182 0

Contingencies and non-existent liabilities 871.502 955.239

Miscellaneous operating costs 199.442 568.357

Total 1.168.686 1.596.741

Current Period Previous Period

Salaries and wages 2.985.182 2.160.937

Corporate expenses 731.332 593.351

Severance Pay 153.115 143.895

Other costs 25.950 49.271

Total 3.895.579 2.947.454

30/09/2018 30/09/2017 CHANGES

Labour cost Workforce 
as at 30/09

Average 
workforce Labour cost Workforce 

as at 30/09
Average 

workforce Labour cost Workforce 
as at 30/09

Average 
workforce

3.895.579 106 81 2.947.454 55 64 948.125 51 16

Leasehold costs
Leasehold costs amounted to €412,608 (€1,013,085 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

This item is mainly made up of rents payable relating to rent paid for the premises of the registered office in Milan, for the 
offices in S. Martino Buon Albergo, Padua and Modena and rents paid for the foreign offices.

Miscellaneous operating expenses
Miscellaneous operating expenses amounted to €1,168,686 (€1,596,741 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

24. Personnel costs
Personnel costs amounted to €3,895,579 (€2,947,454 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.
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Periodo Corrente Periodo Precedente

Depreciation of tangible assets 130.450 102.098

Depreciation of intangible assets 30.050 37.588

Impairment losses and reversals 0 5.128

Total 160.500 144.814

Period 
Current Previous Period

Buildings and improvements to third party assets 32.953 36.184

Plant and machinery 54.316 1.850

Other Buildings, Plant and Machinery 43.181 64.064

Total 130.450 102.098

Current Period Previous Period

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights 24.546 33.072

Software 4.516 4.516

Other intangible assets 988 0

Total 30.050 37.588 

The significant increase in personnel costs is mainly due to the change in the scope of consolidation and the entry of the 
companies operating in the Balkan countries.

25. Amortisation, depreciation and other provisions

Depreciation of tangible assets
Depreciation of intangible assets amounted to €130,450 (€102,098 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

Depreciation of intangible assets
Depreciation of intangible assets amounted to €30,050 (€37,588 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

Net financial income / (expenses)
Financial income amounted to €-584,780 (€-367,411 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.
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Current Period Previous Period

Financial income 49.227 146.014

Financial expenses -634.007 -513.425

Net financial income / (expenses) -584.780 -367.411

Current Period Previous Period

Interest receivables on bank deposits 317 682

Capital gains on foreign exchange 142 454

Default interest receivables 20.735 143.664

Interest receivables on security deposits 28.032 1.155

Other 0 59

Total 49.227 146.011

Periodo Corrente Periodo Precedente

Bank loans 571.774 497.552

Miscellaneous interest payables 31.278 1.339

Capital losses on foreign exchange 11.988 597

Other financial expenses 18.267 13.937

Total 634.007 513.425

26. Financial income
Financial income amounted to €49,227 (€146,011 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

The item “Capital gains on foreign exchange” is exclusively made up of the difference between the value of purchases of 
services in foreign currency, recorded in the accounts at the time of insertion of the respective purchase invoice, and the 
value in foreign currency recorded in the accounts at the time of payment of the same invoice.

27. Financial expenses
Financial expenses amounted to €634,007 (€513,425 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

28. Income (expenses) from investments
Income and expenses from equity investments in the year amounted to €0 (€107,362 in the previous year).

29. Financial income (expenses) from Group companies
Financial income from affiliated companies excluded from the scope of consolidation amounted to €501,872 (€303,372 in the 
previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented below.

The amounts shown above are entirely made up of interest on loans accrued during the year.

Current Period Previous Period

From affiliates 501.872 303.372

Total 501.872 303.372 
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Current Period Previous Period

IRES 1.359.823 1.351.508

IRAP 267.954 248.236

Net (deferred) / prepaid taxes -66.666 -76.839

- Net deferred tax assets 3.632 -108.903

Net deferred tax liabilities -63.034 32.064

Other fiscal expenses / (income) (CNM fiscal consolidation) 0 -37.588

Total 1.561.111 1.485.317

Fiscal Expenses / (Income) - breakdown

30. Fiscal Expenses / (Income)
This item amounted to €1,561,111 (€1,485,317 in the previous year).
The item’s structure, the changes in value during the years, and other relevant information are shown below:

In relative terms, the tax rate for the two years, taking into account that the IRES rate in 2018 is 24%, is broken down as 
follows:
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IRES Current Period Previous Period

Profit before taxes 4.698.216  

Theoretical tax burden (24%)  1.127.572

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES taxable in following years   

Directors’ fees paid after 30/09/2018 43.600  

Total 43.600  

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED 
FORWARD:

  

Directors’ fees paid after 30/09/2017 -62.516  

Write-off of credit impairment fund (previous year) 0  

Total -62.516  

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT CARRY OVER IN SUBSEQUENT 
YEARS:

  

Default interest receivables not collected as of 30/09/2018 0  

TOTAL -18.916  

Difference (increase)   

Non-deductible or unpaid taxes 43.670  

Taxed credit impairment 500.000  

   

Net entertainment expenses 5.506  

Non-deductible corporate vehicle expenses 79.504  

   

Other non-deductible depreciation 2.030  

Contingent liabilities 346.878  

Other variations (increase) 85.792  

Total variations (increase) 1.063.380  

Difference (decrease)   

IRAP relating to personnel costs -14.711  
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IRAP   

Production value 9.024.996  

Theoretical tax burden (3.9%)  351.975

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES TAXABLE IN FOLLOWING YEARS:   

Total 0  

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED 
FORWARD:

  

Total 0  

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT CARRY OVER IN SUBSEQUENT 
YEARS:

  

Difference (increase)   

Directors’ fees and INPS contributions (excluding fees paid to trade 
license holders9

706.785  

Municipal Property Tax 3.172  

Other variations (increase) 139.757  

Share of interest on lease fees 14.215  

Credit losses 9.004  

Contingent liabilities 346.878  

Differences in IRAP rate of the parent company (5.57%) 700  

Total variations (increase) 1.220.511  

10% IRAP (higher between paid and chargeable regional income tax) -11.155  

   

IAS derecognised intangible assets amortisation -18.432  

Contingent assets -28.110  

Other variations (decrease) -179.115  

Total variations (decrease) -251.523  

TAXABLE INCOME 5.491.157  

Current taxes on operating income  1.317.878

Foreign company taxes  41.944

Total taxes in the income statement  1.359.822
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Net deferred tax assets

 % % Taxable income Income taxes

Deferred taxes 2018 2019
Balan-
ce as at 

30/09/2017
Incr. Decr. Balance as at 

30/09/2018
Balance as at 
30/09/2017 Incr. Decr.

Balan-
ce as at 

30/09/2018

Securities 
impairment

24 24 1.117.759 0 0 1.117.759 268.153 0 0 268.153

Unpaid 
Directors’ fees

24 24 62.516 51.933 -62.516 51.933 15.004 12.464 -15.004 12.464

Credit 
impairment

24 24 600.000 500.000 0 1.100.000 144.000 120.000 0 264.000

Previous merger 
losses

24 24 195.294 0 -195.294 0 46.871 0 -46.871 0

Tax effect on IAS entries

Leasing IAS17 
(prior years)

27,9 27,9 224.725 0 -224.725 0 62.699 0 -62.699 0

Employee 
severance 
payments IAS 
19 (2016)

24 24 20.211 0 0 20.211 4.851 618 0 5.469

Property 
Intangible Fixed 
assets

27,9 27,9 36.367 0 -18.431 17.936 11.016 1.051 -5.928 6.139

Employee 
severance 
payments IAS 
19 (2017) 
equity only

  0 0 0 0 6.770 0 -6.770 0

Total   2.256.872 551.933 -500.966 2.307.839 559.364 134.133 -137.272 556.225

Difference (decrease)   

Other variations (decrease) -192.235  

Contingent assets -20.180  

Amortisation of IAS intangible assets -18.432  

IRAP deduction for increase in newly hired employees and/or tax wedge -3.144.056  

Total variations (decrease) -3.374.903  

IRAP TAXABLE INCOME 6.870.604  

Current operating IRAP  267.954

The composition of and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below:
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Net deferred tax liabilities

 % % Taxable income Income taxes

Deferred tax 
liabilities 2017 2018 Balance as at 

30/09/2016 Incr. Decr. Balance as at 
30/09/2017

Balan-
ce as at 

30/09/2016
Incr. Decr.

Balan-
ce as at 

30/09/2017

Default interest 
receivables not 
collected

24 24 249.375 0 -249.375 0 59.850 0 -59.850 0

Dividends not 
collected

24 24 13.267 0 -13.267 0 3.184 0 -3.184 0

Tax effect on IAS entries

Delta 
depreciation 
improvements

27,9 27,9 53.423 0 0 53.423 14.905 0 0 14.905

Supp. 
customer 
ind. provision 
IAS37

27,9 27,9 64.641 0 0 64.641 15.514 0 0 15.514

Employee 
severance 
payments IAS 
19 (2018) 
equity only

  0 0 0 0 0 1.601 0 1.601

Total   380.706 0 -262.642 118.064 93.453 1.601 -63.034 32.020

Part H
Risk management and other information
Below is the additional information required by the IAS/IFRS, 
SIC/IFRIC interpretative documents, the Consob bulletins 
and resolutions, and the national legislation, with reference 
to the applicable rules of the Italian Civil Code and other 
measures adopted by the national legislature, which are di-
scussed in the Report of the Board (please refer to the Report 
for information).

Risk management
With regard to market, credit and liquidity risks, please refer 
to the Report of the Board enclosed herewith.

Information on financial risks
IFRS 13 requires the classification of financial instruments 
at their Fair Value calculated on the basis of the quality of the 
input sources used in their evaluation. 
The above classification required by IFRS 13 implies a “hie-
rarchy of Fair Value” divided into three levels that gives prio-
rity, in the context of Fair Value measurement, to the use of 
objective market information as opposed to specific informa-
tion and establishes three levels for measuring Fair Value, 
based on the nature of the inputs used in calculating the 
value of an asset or liability at the measurement date. The 
hierarchy of Fair Value measurement is defined as follows:
• Level 1: determination of Fair Value based on listed 

(unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. This category includes the instruments by which 
the Company operates directly in active markets or in over-
the-counter markets that are identical assets compared to 
corresponding organised markets (i.e. future);
• Level 2: determination of Fair Value based on cal-
culation models using observable inputs on active markets 
(other than listed prices included in level 1 that are obser-
vable either directly or indirectly). This category includes the 
instruments by which the Company operates in Over-the-
Counter markets not characterised by a sufficient level of 
liquidity or that do not express a market price continuously 
(i.e. OTC formula covers);
• Level 3: determination of Fair Value based on cal-
culation models whose inputs are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs) either directly or indirectly 
in no active market.
For the assessment of Fair Value to belong to Level 1, the 
presence or absence of a quote in an active market for an 
instrument identical to the one being calculated becomes 
essential. Based on the indications of IAS 39, a financial 
instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if: 
• quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
through a price list, operator, broker, industry sector, pricing 
agency, regulatory authority;
• those prices represent actual and regularly occur-
ring market transactions under normal trading conditions. 
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Amount

Directors 673.856

Board of Auditors 66.569

Amount
Audit* 85.634

* includes separate annual audits (Unbundling) prepared for the Italian Electricity and Gas Authority (AEEG) and out-of-
pocket expenses.

Some characteristics may be symptomatic of an inactive market. These include:
• a significant drop in volumes and the number of exchanges;
• or prices that vary considerably over time and between market participants.
However, it should be noted that these factors, when considered individually, may not indicate that a market is inactive. Therefore, 
to assume that a price is quoted on an active market, the following should be absent: 
• recent transactions that occur with some regularity with regard to financial instruments identical to those calculated and, 
moreover, 
• prices for such transactions that are promptly and regularly available.

Miscellaneous information 
Lease agreements
There are no future payments for non-cancellable rental commitments at 30/09/2018.

Transactions with non-consolidated group companies
These represent transactions with associated companies of the Group and mainly relate to:
• financial transactions, represented by loans;
• commercial transactions related mainly to the electrical sector.

Remuneration of Board members and independent auditor
Remuneration of Board members
The following table provides information on the remuneration of Directors and statutory Auditors, in accordance with art. 2427 of 
the Italian Civil Code:

Remuneration of independent auditor
The table below provides the information required by Article 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Issuers’ Regulations.

Significant events after year-end 
Significant events after year-end, as well as information on the Company’s position and trend of business, are discussed in the 
Report of the Board, as required by the applicable laws.

Milan, 21 February 2019

The Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)

 Type of instrument as 30/09/2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets for derivative contracts 13.752.894 0 0 13.752.894

Type of instrument as 30/09/2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Attività finanziarie per contratti derivati 14.850.672 0 0 14.850.672
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COMPANY
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EUROPE ENERGY HOLDING S.r.l. A SOCIO UNICO (SINGLE 
SHAREHOLDER COMPANY) 

Registered office: Via Fratelli Gabba, 6 

20121 MILAN (MI)  

R.E.A. Index No. 2041430 - MI 

Companies’ Register of MILAN no. 06616800964 

Share capital: €1,908,730.00 (paid-up)  

 
Report of the Sole Statutory Auditor  

on the statutory and consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 September 2018 

(pursuant to Articles 2403 and 2429(2), of the Italian Civil Code) 
of the Shareholders’ General Meeting for Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. a socio unico 

(Sole Shareholder Company) 

Dear Shareholder, 

The Sole Statutory Auditor has monitored compliance with the Law and the Articles of 
Association and compliance with the principles of correct administration, referring in the 
performance of his duties to the Standards of Conduct of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
recommended by the National Council of Chartered Accountants and Accounting Experts.  

The Sole Statutory Auditor has attended the Shareholders’ General Meetings and the 
meetings of the Board of Directors, also obtaining information from the Administrative Body 
on the general performance of the Company and its outlook, as well as on the most 
significant transactions, in terms of their size or characteristics, carried out by the 
Company, and, on the basis of the information available, can reasonably ensure that the 
actions implemented comply with the Law and the Articles of Association and are not 
manifestly imprudent, risky or likely to compromise the integrity of the Company’s assets. 

The party in charge of the legal auditing of the accounts is the auditing company Deloitte & 
Touche S.p.A., which has not communicated any significant events or information that 
needs to be highlighted in this report. 

The Sole Statutory Auditor has acquired knowledge of and supervised the company by 
carrying out periodic checks on the assessment of the adequacy of the organisational 
structure of the company and its correct functioning. 
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Company, and, on the basis of the information available, can reasonably ensure that the 
actions implemented comply with the Law and the Articles of Association and are not 
manifestly imprudent, risky or likely to compromise the integrity of the Company’s assets. 

The party in charge of the legal auditing of the accounts is the auditing company Deloitte & 
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I have assessed and monitored the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system 
and the reliability of the latter in correctly representing operating events and there are no 
particular observations to make in this regard. 

During the financial year, the Sole Statutory Auditor did not issue any opinions established 
by law.  

No complaints were received pursuant to Article 2408 of the Italian Civil Code. 

I have examined the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2018, as well 
as the consolidated financial statements as at the same date, and in this regard I wish to 
report as follows. 

Pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28/02/2005, containing the implementing provisions 

of Law no. 306/2003 (promulgated following the entry into force of European Regulation no. 

1606/2002), which provides for the option for unlisted companies that prepare consolidated 

financial statements to optionally adopt international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) issued 

by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union, 

the company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. intended to make use of this option by drawing up 

the consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 2018  in compliance with the 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations 

issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations 

Committee (SIC), recognised by the European Union in accordance with Regulation (EC) 

1606/2002 and in force at the end of the financial year (all the above standards and 

interpretations are hereinafter referred to as “EU-IFRS”). In particular, EU-IFRS have been 

consistently applied to all periods presented in this document. Conversely, the statutory 

financial statements (stand-alone) were prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP, in 

particular in the abbreviated form referred to in Article 2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code. 

 

It should be noted that the balance sheet includes goodwill for a total of €9,040,212, of which 

€667,095 is derived from the exchange deficit resulting from the merger by incorporation of 

Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. into the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. (reverse merger in 

2014) and €8,373,117 relating to goodwill generated by the merged company Europe Energy 

Gas & Power S.p.A., as a result of the acquisition of the business unit from Gascom S.r.l. in 

Liquidazione (in liquidation); in particular, following the implementation of the Purchase Price 
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I have assessed and monitored the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system 
and the reliability of the latter in correctly representing operating events and there are no 
particular observations to make in this regard. 

During the financial year, the Sole Statutory Auditor did not issue any opinions established 
by law.  

No complaints were received pursuant to Article 2408 of the Italian Civil Code. 

I have examined the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2018, as well 
as the consolidated financial statements as at the same date, and in this regard I wish to 
report as follows. 

Pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28/02/2005, containing the implementing provisions 

of Law no. 306/2003 (promulgated following the entry into force of European Regulation no. 

1606/2002), which provides for the option for unlisted companies that prepare consolidated 

financial statements to optionally adopt international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) issued 

by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union, 

the company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. intended to make use of this option by drawing up 

the consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 2018  in compliance with the 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations 

issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations 

Committee (SIC), recognised by the European Union in accordance with Regulation (EC) 

1606/2002 and in force at the end of the financial year (all the above standards and 

interpretations are hereinafter referred to as “EU-IFRS”). In particular, EU-IFRS have been 

consistently applied to all periods presented in this document. Conversely, the statutory 

financial statements (stand-alone) were prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP, in 

particular in the abbreviated form referred to in Article 2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code. 

 

It should be noted that the balance sheet includes goodwill for a total of €9,040,212, of which 

€667,095 is derived from the exchange deficit resulting from the merger by incorporation of 

Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. into the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. (reverse merger in 

2014) and €8,373,117 relating to goodwill generated by the merged company Europe Energy 

Gas & Power S.p.A., as a result of the acquisition of the business unit from Gascom S.r.l. in 

Liquidazione (in liquidation); in particular, following the implementation of the Purchase Price 

Allocation (PPA) activity, the difference between the purchase price and the value of the 

acquired company was provisionally allocated to goodwill, in the absence of other significant 

assets related to the acquisition; this item was subject, with reference to the date of 

30/09/2018, to the Impairment Test, as required by IAS 36 and as described by the directors 

of the subsidiary Europe Energy in the valuation criteria of the financial statements. 

 

The Board of Directors has made available to me the financial statements prepared in 

abbreviated form pursuant to Article 2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code and the consolidated 

financial statements, both relating to the year ended 30 September 2018; the latter consists, 

as required by IAS 1, of the Statement of Financial Position, the Income Statement and the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Explanatory Notes 

(which include the Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity), containing the list of 

significant accounting standards and other explanatory notes. In this sense, I have expressly 

waived the terms set forth in Article 2429(1) of the Italian Civil Code. 

 

Since I was not responsible for the analytical control of the merits of the content of the 

financial statements, and of the consolidated financial statements, I supervised the general 

approach given to the same, its general compliance with the Law as regards its formation and 

structure.  

 

Transactions between group companies and with related parties are included in a specific 

paragraph in the Notes to the Financial Statements and in the Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements, to which reference should be made for the identification of the type of 

transactions and their economic, equity and financial effects. The Sole Statutory Auditor notes 

that, among other things, the identification and quantification of significant transactions with 

related parties is the sole responsibility of the Administrative Body. 

 

Pursuant to Article 2426(5) of the Italian Civil Code, the Sole Statutory Auditor expressed his 

consent to the recording of start-up and expansion costs in the assets side of the balance 

sheet.  

The Sole Statutory Auditor also examined the consolidated financial statements of the Europe 

Energy Holding S.r.l. Group for the year ended 30 September 2018, for which the following 

information is provided: 
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- these are the third consolidated financial statements of the group prepared in 
accordance with international accounting standards and was prepared by the 
parent company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l.; 

- the consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche 
S.p.A., the company appointed to carry out the legal audit of the accounts, which 
has not communicated any significant facts or information to us that should be 
highlighted in this report and which issued its report on 22 February 2019; 

- the Sole Statutory Auditor verified that the consolidated financial statements 
corresponded to the facts and information of which he was aware following the 
performance of his duties and has no observations to make in this regard. 

At the end of this report, also considering the results of the activities carried out by the 
legal audit body contained in the specific report accompanying the statutory financial 
statements, and the consolidated financial statements, dated 22 February 2019, which I 
have read, I have no reason to object to the approval of the financial statements for the 
year ended 30 September 2018, nor are there any objections to the proposal for a 
resolution presented by the Board of Directors for the allocation of the result for the year. 

The Sole Statutory Auditor has no observations to make regarding compliance with the 
provisions of the law relating to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as 
at 30 September 2018. 

San Martino Buon Albergo (VR), 22 February 2019 

The Sole Statutory Auditor 

(Mr. Stefano Breno) 
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